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2022 30

(Nikko AM Global Cayman Limited)

KY1-1104
309GT
(P.0. Box 309GT, Ugland House, South Church Street, George Town, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1104, Cayman Islands)

03 6775 1636

TRP
(Nikko AM Offshore Funds — TRP US Core Growth Equity Fund)

10 1,289

1,000

2022 28 UFJ
128.86
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UFJ

https://www.sc.mufg.jp/products/trust/index.html

Nikko AM Global Cayman Limited

UFJ
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Nikko AM Global Cayman Limited
2018 24
FirstCaribbean International
Bank and Trust Company (Cayman)
Limited
2018 24
Brown Brothers Harriman & Co.
UFJ 2018 23
2018

)
2003 26

)
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() 2022

2022 480,000 6,185

128.86 480,000 128.86

1,000,000 1,000,000 2,886

)

2003 26

2009 27
)

2022
EC2V 5DE 480,000 100.00
40
Nikko AM Global Holdings (40 Basinghall Street, London EC2V 5DE,
Limited United Kingdom)
(
1925
50
150
(
(
D@

2003 11 17

CIMA
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MSCI-KOKUSAI

MSCI Inc.

MSCI Inc.

MSCI

MSCI Inc.

MSCI Inc.

NOMURA-BPI
FTSE

FTSE Fixed IncomeLLC FTSE Fixed Income LLC

FTSE Fixed Income LLC

JP GBI-EM

JP. Morgan SecuritiesLLC
JP. Morgan SecuritiesLLC
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140,000
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2021 12 31
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977,613
a b
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2021 12 31 257,889
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2022
130,289,563.22 99.00
1,316,839.73 1.00
131,606,402.95
16,958,801,084 100.00
2022

us

9,277,927.49

16.00

148,413,520.02

14.04 130,289,563.22 99.00
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2021 2022

2018 12 31 50,551,939.00 6,514,122,860 9.12 1,175
2019 12 31 36,019,078.00 4,641,418,391 11.61 1,496
2020 12 31 111,427,243.00 14,358,514,533 15.31 1,973
2021 12 31 163,175,060.00 21,026,738,232 17.89 2,305
2021 113,493,642.87 14,624,790,820 16.33 2,104
123,069,894.00 15,858,786,541 17.20 2,216

130,310,113.88 16,791,761,275 17.66 2,276

142,269,130.83 18,332,800,199 18.23 2,349

150,526,359.27 19,396,826,656 17.40 2,242

10 151,864,548.86 19,569,265, 766 18.04 2,325

11 159,276,966.48 20,524,429,901 18.21 2,347

12 163,175,060.00 21,026,738,232 17.89 2,305

2022 140,934,302.57 18,160,794,229 15.50 1,997
135,450,569.89 17,454,160,436 14.90 1,920

146,266,850.58 18,847,946,366 15.73 2,027

124,325,104.72 16,020,532,994 13.51 1,741
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2018 12 31 1,739,101,517 8,995
2019 12 31 1,390,992,944 11,126
2020 12 31 2,825,977,115 14,429
2021 12 31 1,738,994,808 16,726
2021 2,508,251,287 15,334
2,237,103,029 16,141
2,257,225,538 16,563
2,081,310,460 17,086
1,812,605,374 16,296
10 1,803,524,057 16,887
11 1,785,105,333 17,043
12 1,738,994,808 16,726
2022 1,269,892,818 14,475
1,154,008,113 13,899
1,172,583,034 14,662
953,959,288 12,572

2022
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-8.80 -10.05
27.30 23.69
31.87 29.69
16.85 15.92

100x

10
10,000
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5,640,700 96,692 5,544,008
(5,640, 700) (96,692) (5,544,008)
1,577,193 4,018,901 3,102,300
(1,577,193) (4,018,901) (3,102,300)
7,640,129 3,462,516 7,279,913
(7,640,129) (3,462,516) (7,279,913)
5,888,232 4,049,599 9,118,546
(5,888,232) (4,049,599) (9,118,546)
205,219 11,868 193,351
(205,219) (11,868) (193,351)
10,956 79,280 125,027
(10,956) (79, 280) (125,027)
231,597 160,771 195,853
(231,597) (160,771) (195,853)
34,383 126,267 103,969
(34,383) (126,267) (103,969)
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2021 12 31

TRP
2021 12 31
149,870,874
176,072,318 22,688,679
3,233,186 416,628
5,090 656
179,310,594 23,105,963
278,025 35,826
186,697 24,058
185,992 23,967
82,037 10,571
72,167 9,299
36,722 4,732
19,125 2,464
12,901 1,662
1,916 247
158,612 20,439
1,034,194 133,266
178,276,400 22,972,697
131,772,235 16,980,170
46,504,165 5,992,527
178,276,400 22,972,697
1,738,994,808
103,969 16,726
163,175,060
9,118,546 17.89 2,305

128.86
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171 22
171 22
977,613 125,975
421,126 54,266
195,797 25,230
45,908 5,916
45,121 5,814
22,560 2,907
15,040 1,938
2,046 264
194,895 25,114
1,920,106 247,425
(1,919,935) (247,403)
13,133,627 1,692,399
(2,099,565) (270,550)
11,034,062 1,421,849
10,027,270 1,292,114
(221,426) (28,533)
9,805,844 1,263,581
20,839,906 2,685,430
18,919,971 2,438,027




TRP

2021 12 31

34,383
5,888,232

126,267
4,049,599

128.86
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(1,919,935) (247,403)
11,034,062 1,421,849
9,805,844 1,263,581
18,919,971 2,438,027
4,828,137 622,154
101,163,989 13,035,992
(18,130,633) (2,336,313)
(67,303,871) (8,672,777)
20,557,622 2,649,055
39,477,593 5,087,083
138,798,807 17,885,614
178,276,400 22,972,697
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TRP

2021 12 31

18,919,971 2,438,027
(57,680,000) (7,432,645)
41,635,000 5,365,086
(13,133,627) (1,692,399)
(10,027,270) (1,292,114)

223,813 28,841
148,707 19,162
(14,423) (1,859)
7,170 924

955 123

7,690 991
90,301 11,636
4,237 546
(83,696) (10,785)
53,526 6,897
(19,847,646) (2,557,568)
105,992,126 13,658,145
(86,049, 156) (11,088,294)
19,942,970 2,569,851
95,324 12,283
3,137,862 404,345
3,233,186 416,628

128.86
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2021 12 31 2021 12 31
14,429 15.31 1,973
(239) (0.21) @7
2,536 2.79 360
2,297 2.58 332
16,726 17.89 2,305
15.92 16.85
1,738,995 163,175 21,026,731
1.53 1.24
(1.53) (1.24)

@
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TRP
2021 12 31
(@D)
98.8
98.8
98.8
T Rowe Price Funds SICAV - US Blue Chip
5,880,839 . N 98.8 176,072,318
Equity Fund Class 1
149,870,874 176,072,318
176,072,318
149,870,874 98.8 176,072,318
1.2 2,204,082
100.0 178,276,400
(22,972,696,904 )
2021 12 31

(@D
754  Alphabet, Inc. * A 1.2 2,195,705
5,007 Alphabet, Inc. * C 8.2 14,600,157
4,961 Amazon.com, Inc. 9.4 16,707,522
50,028 Microsoft Corp. 9.5 16,878,430
36,428 Meta Platforms, Inc. * A 7.0 12,437,905

128.86
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(
( )
) ( ) ( )
. 2022
Citi PB 1,717,994,790 28 (15,104, 443) (182,632)  (182,632)
. 2022
Citi PB 83,549,438 28 (726,611) (934) (934)
. 2022
Citi PB 22,546,921 28 (198,260) (2,426) (2,426)
. 2022
Citi PB 555,548 28 (63,375,935) 5,090 5,090
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2018 14

2012 10 15
2009 a CIMA
2018 28
BBH
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2022
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946
GAAP
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NAV

GAAP
GAAP

ASU  2015-07

2021 12 31

2021 12 31

5,090 5,090
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5,090 5,090
2021 12 31
(185,992) (185,992)
(185,992) (185,992)
2021 12 31
FASB ASC 740
50
13 100, 697 4,260
48
11,378,112 31 2,008,632
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SICAV
SICAV us
SICAV 2010 12 17
UCITS
CSSF

S&P 400

)
)
() ) )

27,371,564 111,427,243 138,798,807
4,828,137 101,163,989 105,992,126
(18,130,633)  (67,303,871)  (85,434,504)
1,032,272 17,887,699 18,919,971
15,101,340 163,175,060 178,276,400

195,853 7,279,913 7,475,766
34,383 5,888,232 5,922,615
(126,267) (4,049,599) (4,175,866)
103,969 9,118,546 9,222,515
145.25 17.89
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10.00
10,000
2018 27
2021 12 31
10
10
0.001 10,000
2021 12 31
12 31 82,037
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2019
ASC 815-10-50
a b
c
ASC 815
1SDA 1SDA
1SDA
2021 12 31 MNA
MNA
@
Citi PB 5,090 (5,090)
5,090 (5,090)
2021 12 31 MNA
MNA

@
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citi PB 185,992 (5,090) 180,902
185,992 (5,090) 180,902
o
2021 12 31
5,090 185,992

60/182



EDINETOOOO
OO000DO00oDOo00DOo0OooOodnE27078)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2021 12 31
(2,094,372) (223,813)
0.28
0.03 2.5 0.25 2.5
0.24 0.22
2021 12 31 421,126 2021 12 31 36,722
0.07 2.5
0.06 2.5
0.05
60,000
0.05
50,000
2021 12 31
195,797 2021 12 31 186,697
0.015
15,000 2021 12 31
22,560 2021 12 31 19,125
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0.03
45,121 2021 12
0.65
977,613 2021 12 31
140,000
1,500
0.65
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2020 COVID-19
COVID-19
13
10
12

2021 12 31
14
15

2022

2022 2022 554,670

3,791,524

2022 2022 16,389,898

14,613,413
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TRPUS CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LLABILITIES
Decemnber 31, 2021

Eﬁmmudln United States Dollar, unless otherwise indicated)
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Baiiatz!

Irpdtmarss n Und eiprgFund, o Fair valus (cost of LD LASET0LETA)

Canky

Uewaali red spgrecintion on lorward foragn turrency eschange cortracts

Tofml assets

Lighlitin:
rareed ditributors Fees
anparagd eirmoeckan aned sube lmini s mor's fees

Urraalsod depraciation on lorw ard foraign turrinsy snchings cortres

Payablefor Units redeemed
ol professonal fees
Angr s o g B fael
Asirad frui et

A Bard eoen panyt lee
Arcrpad regEration fees
har anperses

Tiotal kabwlties

et Assets Amrbutalyle e Unithelders

Benabyein of Not Ayeots:

Pad m copital

Tetnl distributable sarnings

Met Aspet Attebubabes bo Unithalder

et faret Value par Uit
{7 Hedged Olgs 7 1,738, 994,608 + 103,960 Unit s citstarding)
(LED Claga S0 163, 1 TE060 = 9,1 18 586 Uiz d gus fanding)

LEL ]

IT6.072 308
3,208 188
5050
179,310, 534

2P
LB, 557
185,932
B0
TZIET
36,732
13175
12901
L916
150613
L0341

17837

134,772 3G
46,504, 165

E|

%

The accampamying notes are an integral partof thess fnandal statements.
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TRPUS CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021
{Expressed In United States Dollar)

Iramiimant Incoma:
e
Total Irvestment [rosms

Espandas:
Cemribater' s loes

UsED 171
171

aTTE13

Belanagemen fees a21,17%
el ey el fashs- e s AR A O Tl 195757
Prof eminnal feed 4550
gt company's fees 45171
Truatins fwws 22,550
Tearder agant firi 15040
Regishration faes ol [
Cnhes svparaes 194 §35
Totsl Lipences L0, 108
et Invveits e Ledigd !1E!ﬂ
Realized and Unreslised Gaint/[Larre):
Poaliped gara o)
st eeni 5 Sabes of Undwerlying Fund 13133627
Fodmnpn cus revy 1P At iond b0 forwsed §onsl gn curniney st irgs Cont et i 208,555
Hot reakiped gans 1L034 057
Tharge 5 uncesl sed apprecstionfdep ]
gt et s i Uinglarping Fund MLORT TG
Foseign ournency transiations snd forward fionsign oumency machange contrans ;RE.HBE
Fieg change in unraslined oo predaticn 0,005 B
Mge raalied and unisadsed gaing F R
Mt Incraane im nat 33wty resuking from cperetions LIS 18,

The accampamying notes are an integral partof thess fnandal statements.
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TRPUS CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
STATEMENT OF CHAMNGES IN NET ASSETS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021
{Expressed In United States Dollar)
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Incrasss (Daoreare] in ek &evake from:

‘Oparationa:

Maf irvesment it

et reaiaed guns

Hiet chaerpe i unresliced apprepiEn

et i@ i nEt Fiset i rensling dram opecsdiong

CapRal Transschinne:

Urat s immied
W Hediged Ciwin {34, 383 UinRg)
LS Do 5, 808 FHT Un 5]

L i
Y Hedged Cers {126,567 Unas]
U0 Cuss |4, 043 533 Unis]
I (P i AR S TRt g e et al Br BRI OrE

Tetsl Inerame I Mot fudetd

Nat Arrete
Baginning of peer
Ered of yow

i 12, %49.935)
11,004,062
5,605,844
LASL0ET]

A 838,137
L0163, g0

(38 13 0633)

[&7, 303,871
0557623

—TE

|36, T, B0 T

LED  1TR.276. 400

The accampamying notes are an integral partof thess fnandal statements.
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

{Expressed In United States Dollar)
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CarhFlows from opersting acthigier

et inare s v aaset s resulli ng from operations

Bl tm et to recoricly the et inoreass in net s et reuking from operstions to net cach weed in

opsratig B0 PAties:
Pk of @ el ot
Procesds from sale and m sty of wvesments
Roalied gard on reElm et e suAbes

harge inurreshiced spprecaicn on invefmenis

Onarge nunresl ied deprecstion on forwerd foregn cumency exchenge contracts

Changs in maets and lishilitie: related ba cperaticn:
Ercress in socnued cuttodien and sub-adminddratoc's fees

Dcraase n acorusd prof essonel fees
Increase in accraed brutt ee fees

bncnease i aonod regenatan fees
Bty i g ru e m i ok N
Ericresne in socnd od distribution Fees
brcrease in mocred agent compony'sFees
Cucrmiis i Seorud oganestiongl eapanis
bricraane in accrued ctfier aepaned

et cash [uted in} eperting setidtis:

CarhFlows gros ded by Feaning soibdbas:
Prazans rom Un s i

Papraient § on Unti medeamed

et cadh provided by financing adthitian

Nt inereaie [n cach sni Farslin corminey

Ttk g Prstin g curaricy o Bagrorong of poar
Carhard formlgn surrency 3t and of year

(L2 w] 15,919,971

[57, 680,000}
81,635,000
113,133,627}
(30,007, 270)
ma

40,707
(14,223)
1T
955
.69
0, 501
4,57
{83,696}
53,526

e

LOS.992, 136
[, 049, L 56}
19,942 370

95324

3137862
UsD 156

The accampamying notes are an integral partof thess fnandal statements.
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021
Selected Per Unit Data and Ratios

(Expressed in United States Dollar, unless otherwise indicated)
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et Aot Vakue, erad ol year

Total return

RaiogTupstes antal diti

et agurts e dal yeer (000's)

Ratin ol wrpeniedls dvarage Aol ieti

FBatio of ret nvestment [cozes (o swer age net ety

1P Madged Claag WD Claee

For the Ve Ended For the Year Ended

¢} ber 31, HH [i] bar 31, 2021

Y LEATS uED 8530

(339 0211

L5536 379

237 258

) L6 T35 LIE0) 17.B3
= =

15.90% 150

L 4 1,738,935 LED LE3175

1.5% 51e

(L5} [3.34%])

8 it o g dwarsge Uit i gt sarding s the piir.

The accampamying notes are an integral partof thess fnandal statements.
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND

PORTFOLID OF INVESTMENTS

Decemnber 31, 2021

{Expressed In United States Dollar)

Humber of % of Met

[ ¥ Shared Eerurity D gieript stk Market Value
INVATRAENT TH LI ERLYERG FUND ST
EUCRA T i i L
EOUATY FUMD [98.15%)

LS 5,860,853 T Fiorwat Priog Furds S04/ « LIS Blue Ohip Equity Fund Class 1~ 33E% S0 17EA7LA1S

1OTAL LLBCERSSOUNG {Catt LD 149,800, 004) [T
O AL INVESTVEMT TN L0 ERL VING FUND VTR A
TOTAL INVERTMENTS {Cost USED LIS B70LET &) F9E% WD ATROTEAIE
CALH AND VTHER ASSETS IN DRSS OF LIABILITIES L 2,201 02
NET B83ETS oot D 8T o

“Thire brn Fivs v i { fpld By D Wromilm and Campany (ar wifesh B Eumey Eroporiinnd aupryre 1S e nsir e omad § piroent of Fl
S af of Deeaibir 11, 201 nvedmandi and phebinted i Dibis D,

W of Mat
Lul fihare; Danor A et Market Value
D T4 el plraatgl, 1FeE A 1o, 7,184, T4
(H i) 00T Aphata, i O L 14.600,15T
uER &350 Amadansom, Irg, s ELE b
LD 00 hiorgsoft Comp. 29% 16,878,439
LED BE 413 Mata Platform, ine A T 12437, W%
JPY Hedped (lais Forvard Forelgn Cumerey Exdhange Contracts
Mk Usraalied
Motinsl Semlement Natianal Urreslized Unrealiced  Appredstian)
Buy  Courterparty A Bate Sall - Apprecistion  {Deprechtion) [Daprecistion)
Y CRIFE LTIT. 534,790 DL/28/ 2022 [Lr) iRI04483) 5D = WD {I§2537) UsD  (1ELERD)
Y CRIFR BRI AR [0SR0 L0 (Ta6ALL) = (3 4) [(24)
Y CEi Pl IT80 978 oL Y ush [FELE 2] - [ 43, 458]
Uil CRiFR 555,550 0L 287002 il DES LR ] 159 - 08
LD 5090 WD 185997} WSD  [LERSOZ]
Cumrersy lepgerd
=Y JApaECE TR
WD L5 Dallar

The sccompanying nobes are an integral part of these finandal staterments.
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

ORGAMLEATION

TRP U Core Gromvth Equity Fund [ihe “Fund”) B 2 series trust of the: Nikke AM Offshore Funds, an open-ended enit tnest
established by a supplemental tnast deed dated May 14, 2018 [ihe “Supplermental Trust Beed”], under tha laws of the
Cayman Idands. Kikka AM Offsthore Funds was established by a master trust deed dated October 15, 2012 (the “Master
Trust Deed”), Lncer the lws of the Cayman isbands and s licensed with the Cayman Slands Monetary Authority pursiant
o section S[1}{a) of the Mutua] Funds Law (2005 Bevision]. The Fund commisncoed operations on June 28, K18,

The Fund's #ssets are managed on 3 day-to-day basis by Nikko AM Global Cayman Limited {the “Mansger”]. The Manager
delegatas imestment managamen dutles o Nkko Aset Management Co., tid, {the “investment Manager]. The
Irmeestment Manager may delegate respondibility for the management of the imvestiment and re-imvestment of certain parts
of the Funds imvestment portfolio to other Iraestment managers. The acmanistration of the Fund s delegated to Brown
Barethars Marriman & Co {the “Custodian” and “Sub-Administrator”), a Emited parnership organized under the lews of the
State of Mew Yook

Brgraen Brothers Hamriman & Co, (P88H") has entered into an agreemmand with State Street Corporstion {"5tate Sareei™)
under which State Street will aoquire B8H's Imerstor Services business; whidh inchsdes its oustody, fund accourding and
adorinistration, trarsfer agency, depositery, Toreign excharge, trustee and securities lergling services. The tramsaction s
mgpecied 1o bo completed i the third guarer of 2022, subgect to customary closing conditions and regulatory approvals.

The imestment objective of the Fund is to achiese growth in the vahse of units over the long term by imassting into a fung,
whach ireests mainly in 3 diversified portfolio of stocks of large end medium sited “blue chip” companies in the Ursted
States.

Unger the terms of the Sepplemaental Tous? Deed and the Master Trust Deed, FArstCaribbean ntemational Bank and Tust
Company [Cayman) Lemited [the =Trustee” and the =Administirator”} is named as Toustes of the Fund,

The Mapager apposnted Mitsubishs UF) Morgan Starbey Seourities Co,, Ltd fo 221 as Agent Company (the “Agent Company”)
and to act as Distributor (the “Distribetor”) of Units in apan,

SUTAMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Ther Furd ks an investment Company that follows the accounting and reponing guidance in FASS Accounting Standards
Cogeficmion 946

L e of Estimoles

The accoimpamying financial statements have been prepaned in accordarce with accounting principles generally accepted in
the Upited Saates of America | U5, GAAPT], The greparation of Rrendal statement s in bocordane with L5 GAAP requanes
the Furd’s marsgement 1o make estimates and assumptions that alfect the reported amaunts of assats and Habiinkes and
dischrsures of confingent assels and liabilities ot the date of the fnancidl strlemerts and the reported amourts of
rEven s and eapenses during the reporting period, Actual results, induding the ultimate amourt realized upon the sale of
fair vahued imvestments, codd differ from those estimates and such differences may ba significam.

Bokit of Accaurtiing

Security and contraciual ransacteons are recorded on a trade/contract-date basis, interest income s recorced on an
effpstion yiekd basis, net of sty applicatde withholding B, nterest mpense and other pxperses are fecorded on an scorual
bashs, Realired gairs and losses froe secunty transactions are computed on the basis of the serage cost of the securnities
sold of covered, Changes in the walustion of imestments aie remorded an the Statement af Operstions a5 unrealized
APECIFEDN oF Ceprecation

Wirkurtion of imveshmenis

IFeistments in ather Evestrment companies “hedge funds™] e vialusd on the bedis of the Net Adet Value ["NAVT] per
share s reported by the ademiristratons of those entities 21 the measurement date bised upan policies and prooedunes
pdopted by the Fund. n coses whens e Fusd eould in the nonmsl course of Busingss redesm its undedying imesiment,
such imvestments are generally valued 3t the net asset valuations proviced by The adminisirators of those entities,

Ir cases weihere the Furd is urable 1o redmeen its underlying irvestmren, such nvesiments in portfolio funds are also valued
at the net asset valuations provided by the administrators of those entities, provided that the undedying portfolio funds
have caloulated their met assed valustions in sooordence with stcouring measuremant guidance which is applizable to
imvestment companies &g Evastments within sudh underlying imvestment companies have been fair valued in accordance
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

SUTARARY OF SIGNIRCANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [ontinued)

Viluetion of meesimenis {coatimued)
with applicable US GAAP, unkew the immestment Manager determines thad such @ valuation would not be the most
appropriate indicator of fair value, in which case the irvestment would be Taar vabued by th Imastmert Marager,

In acconrdance with the authoritathe guidance on fair value messurements and disclosures under LS. GAAR, the Fung
dischoses the fair value of its imvestments in a bisrardhy that prioritizes the inputs 1o wluation iechniques used to measure
the fajr value, The hierarchy gives the highest priority to valuations based upon unadiusted quoted prices in active markets
for identical atseds or Kabilities {leved 1 measurement) and the lowest priority 1o waluations based wpon unobienable
inpruts that are significant 10 the wluation (Level 3 measurements). The puidance establishes three levels of the fair value
hiezarchy a5 follows:

e Level ] = inputs thaet reflest uradiuoited quated prices i sctive markess for identizel irvestmerts that the Furd
has the ability to scceds at the meanrement date;

*  Level 2 = imputs other than guoted prices that are significam and observable for the asset or liabiiy edther
cirectly or indirectly, inchuding inputs in markets that are not considened to be active:

L Lewed 3 = Inputs that are significant and unolberesble.

Irypts are wiied i Bpplying the various valuation techrigues and beosdly refier 10 the acmmplions thet marked paelicipant s
e to make vabuation dedisions, inchuding assumptions about risk. mputsmay inchede peice information, specific and broad
onehit dine, lpidity Slatistics, and other factors, A fnarsial instrumert’s level within the fair value Ferarchy B based upon
the lowsst level of any input that is tignificant to the fair value measuement. Moweser, the detenminztion of wha
oortitutes “obiervable” reguires significant pdgment by the irmeitment Manager. The investmert Manspsr consicders
obs orable data to be market dats which i readily aailable, regularly distribated or uvpdated, reliable and verifiable, not
proprietany, and provided by independent tourtis that are sctively involved in the rdevant masrket. The categonization of 2
finarcial irstrurment within the hierarchy is based upon the pridng trarsparency of the instrument and does no? necesarnly
coftetpond 1o the mvestmert Mensger s porceived itk of that irstrument.

Ierwesibirierts whde wibu &d are baded cn the quoted market priced in Sotiee markets, and therefore didified within Level 1,
would indude actively traded pouities, cerfain L5 govemmert and soversign obligations, and certain money markes
securities. The eestment Manager would nat adjest the guoted price for such inttruments, eoen in situations where the
Fursd held a large position anid a sale could reasonably impact the guoted price

Imsestmemts that tracke in markets that are not corsidennd fo be adtive, but ame valued based on guoted market prices,
dissler quetations or slternstice pricing ources supparted by obtervable inpats ane dlassified within Level 2. Thess include
immestment-grace debt seourities, short-term ivestments and forward foreign oumrency exchange contracts, As Level 2
imestments include positions that ane not traded in active markets andfor are subjedt to trarsfer restrictions, wluations
may be adjusted 1o reflect Bquidity and/or non-trarsferability, which are generally based on pailable market information,

Irwestimerds dassified within Level 3 Reve significant unobservable npats, 8s they would trade infrequently, Levsl 3
intruments would indude asetbadked seourities arnd collateralired mortgage obligations. As obterable prices are not
irvailable for thode securitien, the Fund would uie valuaSon tedhnigues 1o deriee the fair vabue

Thie inputs or methadokogy wied for valuing Lecurities ane not necEsaanlly an indication of the risk avodrbed with irnesting
in thorse seourities.

In actordance with AS0 21507, the Fund's imeestment @ other invesiment ompanies has ot bem cotegoiced in the
fair wahue Fiivardhy foin 8 foll Forwand of iFviitment Sdhity.
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

SUTARIARY OF SIGNIRCANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [continued)

Wirluztion of imvesiments fooatimued)

The following table presents the fimendal instraments cardied on the Statement of Avsets and Liabslities by caption and by
lvel within the valuation beerarchy as of Decembar 31, 3021, Funher dassifications of the finandal lrstruments ane
presented in the Portfolio of Imestments,

Hrpatz ot Fair Value Fair Valem at
Lrvall Ll 2 Leval 3 Ceoember 31, 3021
Forward Forsgn Cuerency
Enthirps Contraat{ LIED) = LSOy 500 LISy - LD 5,080
Total LD = LD S LD = A0 5050
Lishimies o4 Falr Valie Fair Vakis 51
Loved 1 Lovel2 Lol ¥ Beoamber 31, HidL
Forward Forsgn Curency
Ewphirepe Contrad 4 o = (1] | LB5.59z) D - LD (18593F)
Total LIS - D [T - LSO [1h5 sl

Guring the year ended Cecember 31, 2021, there were no trarsfern in or out of Level 3. The Fund's policy is to determine
levellng dnd diess ol trandfers ad at i yedr ond date.

Foreign Currenty Transfalion

Assnts and labilities held in currendes other than United States Dollar {"U50° or the “Functional Cunrency™] are transdated
ter the Functional Currency #t the rate of exchange prevailing at the financial staterment date income and expenses are
transtated af the rate of exchange prevailing at the date on which the income or expense s incurned. Realized and
urealized gaint snd batse griting on forsign currency framsactiont ane inchaded in the Statement of Operations in the
i in wehich they oo,

The Furd foes not isolate that portion of the results of operations resulting from changes in foredgn exchange rates on
imestments from the fuctuations arising from changes in market prices of securities held. Such flucheations ane induded
with e et realived 2nd uneealiced gain of lor from itvestments

Iacome Texes

Under the cuntert laws of the Cayman idandy, these are no income, withholding, capital gains or other taxes payable by
the Furd, n certain jurisdiction: ather than the Cayrmen islands, foreign tawes may be withhold 8 source on dividends and
intenest receiied by the Furd. Capital gains derived by the fund in such juriscictions generally will be exeampt from foreign
incorme of withholding taces ot souree. The Fund intends to conduct ity afairt sudh that i will rot be subjedt toincome tax
in ary jurbdiction. As a result, no provision for income taaes has been made in the financial statements, Unitholders may
e 1amed o thedr proportionste share of the Fund's tax basis incorme bated on their individusl circumstances.

The Fund follows the authoritatiee guidance on acounting for and disdosure of uncertainty in fax positions [Financial
Arcounting Sandards foard (FFASE"] « Accounting Standards Codification 2], which reguires the Menager to determing
whether a tix poiition of the Fund i$ more Bely than rot fo be suitaned upon examination by the applicable taxing
authority, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the tedhnical meriss of the position.
For tan positions mesting the more |#ely than not thoeshold, the tan bmefit recognized in the firendal stitements is
recuiced by the largest benedit that has a greater than fifty percent Blelibood of being realized upon uimate et thement
with the relevart fawing authority. The Manager has determined that there it minimal or ro efect on the financial
statements being under this suthortative guldance,

Forword Fareign Cumemcy Excfange Comtrocts

The Fund may enter im0 {orward forsign asrenoy exchange contracts to hedge agoirst foreign currensy exchange rate
risks on all or a portion of non-USD denominated imaestments or for efficient portfolic maragement purposes, When
entering into a forward fonsgn curnency exchange contract, the Fund agress o receive or deliver a fioed gquantity of
foreign cumency for an agreedaupon price on an agreed future date, These contracts are vahsed dally, and the Fund's net
equity therein, representing unrealised uwn:i.ltiun.l'ld:plﬂ:iu‘.i:tl on the comracis a3 meaiued by the difference
betwenn the forward forelgn currency sxchargs rates at the dates of erry into the contracts and the forsard rates at the
reporting date, it induded in the Statement of Aswets and Lishilities. Realimed and unrealiesd gaing and lovses ane included
nthe Statement of Operations,
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

SUTARARY OF SIGNIFPCANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [continued)

Forwind Foreign Curnemcy B franmge Controcts {oombineed ]

These instruments ireoshee market risk, credit sk, or both kirds of risks, in excess of the amownt recogrired in the
Statemant of Assets and Liabilitles. fisks anise from the possible inability of counterparties 1o meet the tenrs of their
oontracts and from movement in ourrency and seouities values snd irterest rates. in addition to the Qass level hedging.
the Fund had realized gain of LSD 4260 on 13 forward fomign auvency exchangs contracts during the year with an
average notional of USD 100637 and an average term 1o maturity of 9 days, The Furd had net realized los of USC
2.098.632 on 448 fpreard foreign aarency exchange comracts held at the JFY Hecged Class level during the year with an
average notional of USG 11,378,112 and an average term 1o matunity of 31 days.

s oo Forefgn Currency
Cash and foreign currendy comprises all currincy held with Brown Srothers Harriman & 06, snd cwernight snd ather thort
term placements with ot hor financial institutions,

IFVESTVIENT 1N THE LINDERLYING FLND

Thee Fund shall primarily invest in shares of US Blue Chip Equity Fund [the “Underlyirg Fund”}, a sub-fund of 7, Rowe Frice
Fursds SICAV, a todifte dirmestivaemen & capital varisble [*30A ") establithed urder the lows of Lusermbourg. The SICAY
qualifies a5 an Undertaking for Collective immestment in Transferable Securities (SUCITS") under Part 1 of the Luxembourg
law of Becember 17, 2010 on undertakings for collective imaestment (the "2010 Law™] and is registered on the offical it of
collective imwesiment undertakings maint ained by the Commission de Sunmillance cu Secteur Finander (05567

The: ebjectivr of the Underying Fund is 1o inorease the value of its shanes, over the lang term through growth in the vabue
of ity imvestiments, by Imeeiting mairly in a diversified portfolio of stocks of large and medium Sized “Bue chip® comparies
Inthe Urited Stales,

Speciically, the Underlying Fund imvests prmarily in ecuity and equityselated seourities of companies that ane either
incorporated in the United Sates of America or concuct most of their einess there, that have a market capitalisation
etual o o grestes than the cmparies in the Russell Mid-cap Index o S&P Mid-cap 400 ndes, and that hove a leading
market position, seatsoned managemont and sirong finarcial fundamentals. Types of seourities may include oommon
stocky, preferied dtocks, warhrts, American Depodriony Receiptd (TADRE"), Eurdpean Depoditany Reckipls (E0PA") and
Global Gepository Receipts [TGORs")

In seeking to achinve the Underlying Fund’s objective the Underlying Fund may also imeest, on an ancillary basis, in other
!Hp‘ﬂz securities a1 described in s prospecius, thiz may ndude ﬁm wecuritied from other courtriies, to mone than &
limited extent.

The Underlying Fund may wse derivatives Tor hedging and efficent portfolio management,

The Underkying Fund's finandal statements are prepared under generally accepled acoounting principles in Lusembourg
and the acoourting policies of the Underlying Funds are substantislly cormistent with thowe of the fund. Units of the
Underhdng Fund may be redeemesd on each Susiness Day,

LRITS.

The net axsess of the Fund ane civided into JPY Hedged Class Unlts and USD Class Uinits, The Units are denomanated in
lapaneds Yen and United States Collar, [PY Olads Units and US0 Class Units are available 10 an digible investor who i$ any
person, conporation or emity which is not [{] a “US vestons”™ (as defined below); (8] @ person or entity resident or
domidled in the Capman slands [exduding any object of a dharifable tnst or power or an cxempted of poneesidens
Cayeran idands company], {ill) unable to subscribe for or hold Units without violating applicable lwes: and (B] a custocian,
nomines, or trustes for any person, conporation of entity desoribed in (1] to (6] abowe, or such other persons, corporations
o entities a5 determined Trom time to time by the Manager, with the approwal of the Trusiee,

Wihile all or substantialy all of the assels of the Fund may be held In LS. Dollars, it s imended for the Furd 1o enter into
hedging arangements for the benefit of JFY Hedged Class Units, which are denominated in apanese Yen, Those
arangements will be to hedge against adverse movernents of the currency of denorrination of the imestments in the
Series Trust relative to Yer. Any profity, gains, losses, costs, income and expencifure assodated with such hedging
arrangements will be borne by 7Y Hedged Class Units,

74/182



EDINETOOOO
OO000DO00oDOo00DOo0OooOodnE27078)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continuead)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

LPNITS continuwed)

For the year ended Decerrber 31, 2021, the notioral exposure on the JFY Hecged Clss forward currency eachange
oomtracts approsimated the average net assets for 1PY Hecged Class being net long JFY and short USC. Open contracts at
yirar end ane disdosed n the FortTolis of imeesterents.

The Manager may determing 1o issue ore of more classes of Units of the Fund without preor natice 10 or written comsent of
the Unithalders.

All of the net assets attributable to JPY Hedged Class Unigs and WSO (ass Units ane held by one Unitholder,

#‘Vlllﬁdﬂllrl UED Clare Tt sl Fund

Balance w Decenbar 31, 2020 UsD 2RE7L564 LED 113,437,243 LSO 135 798,507
Sub-scriptions dunng the year 4808197 101, 163,555 108 592 13
Aidgmptions durifgg L ha pood {18, 130.633] §E7,303,871] (85,434 504)
et i innet asset s ieaadiing from operdiong 1.ﬂﬂ‘ﬂ 11'.53'-'.59_'9 1&959.&
et Aoty &t Decembar 31, 3071 [ 15,308,340 USD 163 375,080 S0 178 376,800
Hhumber of UinRs i i it Dt iber 31 3020 196,653 TITRILE TATETEG
Uit sosued during the ear 34,553 5,804, Xxr SEI2E15
Unieg rediim &d S0 ing tha yeee [lI‘E.i‘G_FI I'-l..IH’El.S-ES_I 14 iTS 8RS
B beer of Unfis i issue o Decemiber 31 2021 103, 93 RIS 8,333 518
et At Vislie g Linit o Dol B 30, 2021 LED LA53S =D irm

Subscriplions for Unnits

US0 Class Units were subsoribed for by Eigble imesiors during the Iritial Offer Period a1 the mnitial purchase prce of USG
OO0 per Uit 187 Hedged Class Units were subseribed for by Elgible imvestors duting the initial OFfer Period at the initial
purchase price of JPY 10,000 per Unit, The Initial Offer Persod commenced on June 18, 2018 and ended on June 27, 2018 In
mddition o tha subscrigtion price, the applicent shall pay a sales charge cloulated at up to 3% (exduding any fax
applicable] of the purchase price, (0 the Cimtrbuton There wene ro sales chadges pald durng the year ended December 31,
Hrf

Curing the initial Offer Pericd, the minimum subscription for USE Class Units per subscriber was 10 Units or mone, and in
multiples of 1 Unit thereafier. During the initial Ofer Parsiod, the minimem irtial subscription for JPY Hedged Class Unies
per subscriber was 1 Urdt or more, and in multiples of 1 Units thereafter,

On and after the initial Closing Day, the minimum subsoription for USO (ass Units per Unitholder s either 10 Units or
e, and in mulliples of 0L001 Units cheneafer o LS 100, and in madliples of USD 0.00 therealier, On and afier the
Initial Closing Cay, the minimum: ssbsorigtion for [FY Hedged Class Units per Urdtholder b either 1 Unit or mone, and in
rultiples of 0001 Urits theveafber o JFY 10,000 and i mulliples of 1Y 1 thereafier,

Thir Marager may wanee o change the minimum nitial and sdditional subscription amounts set forth above @ its sole
discretion from time 1o time.

Linit Redempiions

Thar Fund fecoghings rederplions n sccordance with the suthoriiative puadance on distinguishing Bxbdities from eouity,
Rederngitions, whether expressed as United States Dollar, lpanese Yen or Units, are recognized as Babilit les when each of
the jopenese Yen ard United Stetes Dollad Unit arrourts recuested in the redemplion potice becomes fined, which
gererally may ocour ether at the $me of the receipt of 1he notice, or on the last day of a flszal year, depencing on the
nature of the recuest. As 8 result, redemptions paid after the end of the year, but besed upan year end net a5sets are
reflecied &5 redemprtions payable a1 December 31, 2021, There were USD 52,037 ard JPY nil of redemprions payable &5 ¢
December 30, 2021 incheded &8 P ayalde for Uit redeemed in the St tement of Assets and Lisbilties

Regurchase of Units
Uridts may be repunchased at the option of Unitholders on each Repurchase Day {rreans each Valuation Day, or such other
day or days as the Mareger may from time to time determing in respect of the Series Trust).

Uritholders wishing to have Units repurchased must send a completed Repurchase Notice to the Distributor 5o as o be
recehved by the Distributor ne later than 3.00 pan. (Tokys time] on the relevant Repurchase Doy, The Distrlwtor will send
the completed Reporchase Notices to the Sub-Administrator by no later than 00 pom, (Tokye time) on the relevant
Repurchase Doy of by such other tere 25 the Sub-Adminisinator may in any particulsr case determine,
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

LIS {continwed)

Repurchase of Units fomiinueed)

1ff thee relpeant Repurdhaze: Noticoe is not recedved by the Subeadministrator by the relevant time, the Bepurchase Motioe will
bbe held over uril the nest Repurchase Day and Uniis will then be redeemed at the relesant repurchase price applicable on
that Aepurchase Day, in the event dither the day after the relevant Cealing Cay or the day falling fwo days after the
relevam Dealing Day b5 a cay on which barks or stock exchanges in Japan are not open for nommal business, any
Repurchase Notice received on such Dealing Day, shall not be acocepted and instead, wall be acoepted on the nest Cealing
Dy,

A Repurchase Notice, once ghien, o inresocable,

Compulsory Redempiion

In the: gwent that the Trustes or the Marager shall determine that any Units of any class of a Fund ane being held by or for
the benefit of a person who i not an Bigible imvestor for such Furd or that such holding vould cause the Trust or the Fund
to be reguired 10 register, be subject to 122 or vicdsie the Bws of any jurisciction, or If the Trustes or the Manager has
reatan to doubt the begitimacy of the scauroe of monied wed to fund the wbsorption o purchase of such Linits, or for
whatever reason which may not be disclosed by tha Trustee or the Manager 1o Unitholders) that the Trustee or the
Manager confidors appropeiate at its absolute disonetion hiving regard 1o the imterests of the Unitholders of the relevant
Class or the Unithalders of the Fund as a whole, then the Marager, after consultation with the Trustee, may direct the
holder thereof to sell (subjed to the provisions destribed below in the section headed "Tramsfer of Urits®) such Units
within 10 days and provide 1o the Trestes and the Marager evidencoe of such sale, falling which the Marager may redensm
such Uinits.

Teminalion of e Fumnd
Upan termination, the Marager will realize all the assets of the Fund, and afler paying out of retaining adequate provision
for &b liabslities propey payable and retairing provision for the costs of the termiration, the Trustee shall distribute the
proceeds of that realization to the Unitholders proportionately 1o thew respective interests in the Fund as of the date of
termiration of the Fund,

DeteBatons fo Uindbolders

The Marager may, from time o tieme, in its sole ciscretion, declare distributions from May 2009, Distribution will ba
declared atnudly on each Distribadion Recond Cate and calbulated on endh Ex-Distribution Date. Distribution Pedod is 3
peviod correnendng from the calendar day following the preceding Gistribution Record Date and ending on and inchiding
the Distribution Record Date. The dietriutions will ba paid on the rdevart Di=tribuotion Payment Cate, provided that such
amaunt [if any] dedared with respect 1o the relevert Class of Urlts in respect of the applicable Disteibution Perd shall
aly bt peed Gut af the Furd®s et incorts, realizesd snd wirsblined capital gains drd iy didtrbutable funds of the Fund
atiribsiable 10 such Class of Linits 3 getermined by the Manager.

The dedaration of distributions 1o Lnithobders reduens the Class Level Nt Asset Vilue per Liri withou! ary correspanding
dharge 1 the rumber of (lasa Lewel Urits per Unitholder. This results in 8 Unitholde's overall ireestment in the Fund
beang recuced. n addition, any cevributions during @ period which are in exoess of the Fund's pel increase in net assets
resnlting From operatioes results in o partion of the distribution being return of capital,

The amount of distributions, if any, will be detenmined by the Manager in its tole discretion, and no representation or
purarintes B made that o deribution will be made in fespect of each of any Distribution Pedod,

Copitalization

The Net Asset Value per Unit is caloulmed for each Dealing Day (each Valuation Diy, or such other day of days as the
Managir mdy from lifme to time detearine in respedt of the Fund], by dividing the difference in walue betwesn the Fusd's
wrsupts ardd linbalthes [Encluding accrued fees and expenses of the Fund) by the nuirber of Units sat starding.

The Tt Desd ipulstes that the bt oof Lrdts 10 be issued in the Fund shall be selinited a5 the Marsger shall
determine and shall be without par value.

DERMATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Accounting Standard Codification {ASC] 815-10-50 requines disclosunes about derivatie instruments and hedging activities.
Itrequires that the Fund disclose: 2] how and ahy an entity uses derivative instnaments, b] how derbathe irstrumants and
related hedged items are accounted for and ) how derivative instrument i and related bedged tems affect an entity's
finarcial position, finardial performance and cash flows,
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

DERTVATIVE FINARCIAL INSTRUBENTS {continued)

The Fund tramacts fonward derivative nstruments primandy for hedging purposes with each instroment™s primary risk
exposure being foreign exchange fsk. The forwand foreign ourfency exchenge comres bed by the Fund do not sualify os
hedges for accounting purposes Lnder the requinements of ASC 815, The fair value of these dervative Imstruments |s
included in the Statesrent of Asseds and Liabilties with changes in fair value reflected as realived gaing/{kosses) or net
charge in unreabred appreciation/{depreciation] on derivatiees within the Statemer of Operateans (Note 2),

The Fund may enrfer info an intemational Swaps and Derbatie Assodation, Inc Master Agreement %1504 Master
Agrearment™] with it counterparties #n order fo mitigite countenparty rige The DA Master Agresient i typicilly
negotinted by the Fund and its counterparties, confaming the bi-laseral tenrs and conditions Tor all subsequent derbatie
transaetiond. The (S04 Masier Agrecment allows faf the retling of all amounts eed 1o of due Irom courdepany into 8
simghe et payment if 8 credh everd or defaull should ocour.

Thir Furd has eected 1o not affset fair value recenables amd payables for dervative contracts on the fece of the Statemen
of Assets and Lisbilizies,

it Decembier 31, 2021 the Fund had entered into the fallowing derratine asiets by counterparty net of smourts sadable
for offset under a Master Netting Agresment [“MNA") and net of any collateral receneed by the Fund

Dierivst b Acrnati D bk P h Cath et Am ount of
Eountarparty Subject to.a MNA_dvallabls for OFfrat Collstaral Racebred Coll oral Bncabed Dashratho frrats!
Q=i PR LEyin] SB0LED L5, G Lsn = JSE8 =150 =
Tensl S0 5 80 sl mjl.lﬂ} ~UsD - WED -

At Decarber 31, 2021 the Fund had entered into the followirg derfvatien Habilittes by counterparty net of amounts
rrvdilable for of et under 8 MMA ard net of sy collatersl pledged By the Furd:

D arrwtive Tt Ampsant of
Counterparty Listsiiet D vt L] h Cwiby Derkative
Sabjoct to s MNA Availabls For Offist Collatersl Madged Collataral Madged Liabdliias "
O=i FB. LE e EBS5, 992 5D 5, D LSy = IS0 = LIEDN SB0,203
Total Um o (5,050} UsD -Us0 -uso s

L Pt SAemE it b U Lot St remsvibia e vibie from Bhe coUSSRtBa Ty 1 [h svmnl oF At

At December 31, 2031 the Furd had ent ered into the following dedatives

Ay put Bwribvathoan Ushility Dorkatives

Derbrativ Ststement Statem ent

Nat Acepunted for ap of dg vty and of freets and

wmm: Linbilmiss Loation Fair Vakie Lighiities Locwtion Fir Valus

Forward foreign oarrency  Linngaliped apprec stion Lrwgalzed depreciation

vachange contracts on tnrward Foraign o Porward formgn

{Currency Rk curnency e han g S0 SO0 ourrency exchenge [£.a] HLER
COfTECEs COMTaCEs

Tha eff ect of gemagoeingruments on the Statement of Oparatong for the yesr snded Decamber 31, 2021

Driymhtivns Mot

Saeeourted Leeation of Reslined Chiarge in Urrankoed

for a4 Hadging Gain ar fLeas) Gain or {Les i) 2ppraciation or {Bepredatian on
Anstrum enti on Darfvathal an Derhvatioed Darivstives

Bt reaiized boas o oeward foreign
Farward borbign eurtity  ufrianty dechsngs Contras g
eschange contragts dharspe m o unrealiped deprenat icn gn Terward
if&i’mﬂrﬁ;ﬂ ] o gn fusTancy excherge contracts [ u] (094 9720 LED [l R
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

TANAGEMENT FEES

The Mansger it entitled to receive out of the assets of the Fund o menagement fee of 2 total of wp 1o (L28% per annwm
(CLCAH per annum in respect of the fee for the Manager and 0.25% per annum for the portion of the Net Asset Value upto
U0 250 million, 0.2 per annum for the portion of the Net Asset Value ower USD 250 mrillicn wp b U35 500 million and
O0.22% per annum for the portion of the Net Asset Value over US2 500 million in respect of fer for the Irvestmend
Manager) of the Net Ascet Walue acorued on, and caioulited &8 st, sach Vabustion Day and payable monthly in anmess. n
addition, the Manager is ablio entitled to be reimbursed oot of the assets of the Furd for any expenses inounned by it in the
proper perfonmence of its powers and duties a5 por mitted wunder the Master Trust Deed.

Curiig the year ended Decerrber 31, 2021, the Manager earnid feet of USD 820,126, of which LSO 36,722 i «fill
outstanding as of Deoamber 31, X121,

The Manager will pay the fees of the investment Manager ot of its fees. The Imvestment Manager will be responsible for
paying the fees of any of its delegetes or other parties appointed by the vestment Marager to perfonm its functions in
respect of the Fund; provided, hawever, the Irvestment Manager may charge a tramsaction fee on the subscriptions and
recempticns of thares of the Underlying Fund.

CUSTODUAN AN SUB-ADRIM STIRATOR'S FEES

The Fund has 3 custody and accounting agresment with Brown Brothers Hantman & Co (the “Custodian™ and “Sub-
Administratoe” ) for which the Custocian necedves @ fee caloulmed and pald monthily based on total assets and trarsaction
il

The Custodian amd Sub-Admsristrator is entitled to recsive ou of the asets of the Fund an sdmiristration fee [induding
transfer agent fee) on the Net Asset Value acorued on, and cloulated 2 o, each Vahation Cay at the following anral
rate

= LLOTH up to (ard inchaing] W50 250 mallion;

- DLOEH up 1o (ard inchading] LSDSO0 malion;

= L0S e LSO SO0 millkan,

Such admiristration Tew is payable monthly in arrears, and subgect 10 the minimum annual fee of USD G000, The Sub-
Adminisrator i lso entitled o recetee out of the assets of the Fund fees for currency ademindstration and execution
services at the rate of 0L05% por annrum of the Net Asset Value of the redevant Lnit @ass, subgect 1o the minimum anrual
fee of LUSD 50,000, In scdition, the Custodian gnd Sub-Adminidrator is also entitbed 10 receime customary safekeeping lees
and transaction charges. All out-of -pocket expenses of the Custodiar and Sub-Adminisirator shall also be borne by the
Fursd, During the yeur ended Decomber 31, 2021, the Custodion prd Sub-Adminisirator earmed fei of USD 195,797, of
wihsch U503 186,697 s sl outstarding a5 of December 31, 2021

TRUSTEE FEES AND ADRAINISTRATOR'S FEES

Thir Tewstee is entithed 10 pecaie aut of the assets of the Fund a combaned Tee 3% the rate of 0.015% per arnuem of the Net
Aasnt Value dctrued on, and caloulated a4 a1, sach Valubtion Dey amd payable qusrterly in amears, subject to 8 sminimum
anmiaal fen of USD 15,000, During the year ended Deceember 31, 2021, the Trustes earned fees of USD 22,560, of which USD
19,125 is still patstancing as of December 31, 121,

AGENT COMPANTS FEES

The Agent Comrpany b entitled 10 recetve out of the assets of the fund a fer at the rate of 0.05% per annum of the Net
Assat Valuoe aconued on, ard calcidated os al, esch Valudtion Dy and payable quaniedy in arrears, During the year ended
Gecember 31, 2021, the Agert eamed foes of USD 45,121, of which USD 12,901 i sill outstanding as of December 31,
21

IHATRIBUTIOR™S FEES
The Ditribator is entitled to recefve out of the assets of the Furd a fee at the rate of 00653 per anrem of the Net Asset
Vahie acoried on, and caloulated as at, each Valuation Doy ard payable quarterly in arrears. During the year enced

December 31, 2021, the Distributors sarned fees of USD 977,613, of which USD 21035 s still sutstanding a5 of December
31, 2021
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

OTHER FEES AND EXFENSES

Thie costs and expenses in connecikon with the establishmrent of the Fund ard the offering of the Unis, together with the
esablishment of the Trust, inchuding the costs and expenses of prepering and printing any prospectus o explanatory
brodhures reguined, are estemated to amownt to approdimately USD 140,000, Such costs and expermes willl be amortised
within the first five (5] finandal years of the Fund wnless the Trustee decides that some other method shall be applied, The
Admindstrator receives USED 1,500 per anmem for FATCA / GRS complianoe servces,

The Undertying Fund s entitbed 1o recetvs out of the assets of the Underlying Fund, a fee at the rate of 0654 per annum of
the Net Asset Value of the Underlyirg Fund,

FINARNCLAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Fund’s activities expose it to awardety of fnandal risks: madet risk (indoding price risk, interest rate risk, and ourrency
fisk), evedit fisk and liguidity rsk

Marked Rk
Al irsestirents present a risk of loss of capifal. The Irvestment Manager moderates this risk through a careful selection of
sefuritied and oiher firencisl instruments.

The Fund’s irmestment mimagament prooedd i described i Nole L The primary determindnt of the Fund's ability to mest
its objective of mid o long tenm capital appreciation while ing income s dependent on the peformance of the
immestmemntin the Underlying fund.

The walues of the Fund's imsestrments ane sffected by a number of factors, induding but nat limited to, dhanges in the wider
weonomy, finangal and currency markets, foreign currency exchange rates and imterest rate movements, The Fund erers
into forward comtractt which to warying degreses represent & market risk in meoess of the amount reflected on the fund's
Staternent of Assets and Libilities. The notional amownt of the forward contract represents the egent of the Fund's
participation in thes: financial instruments, Market ricks associsted with such forward contracts arise due to the possitde
mpwements in forel gn curercy exchang e rates undedying these Inst .4

Crther market and credit risks indude the posibility that there may be an Wiguid merket for the confracts, that the change
in the value of the contract may rot directly correlate with changes in the value of the undeslying currendes or that the
counterparty 80 a forward contract cefaulis on s obligation 1o perform under the terms of the contract, The Fund's
exposune to logs due to counterparty non performance on open futunes, forwards, ssap and options contracts is imited to
the urrealized appeeciation irhedrent in such firandal instruments which are recogrined in the Sttement of Assets and
Liabilities.

Credit Mgk

Credit risk tepresents the patential loss that the Fund would incur i€ the counterpanties, failed to perfarm purisant to the
terms of their obligateons 1o the Fund, For exchange-traded corracts, the eschange acts a5 the counterpany 1o spedific
transactions and, therefsde, bears the ritk of defivery to ard freen counterparties of spedfic positiors, The Fund's
managiarsend coes nat corider that oredi risk related fo open derratiee contracts will heve matenial sdverse effect on the
fimarcial condition of the Fund.

Adthough the Manager moritors the Custadian and believes it to be an appropriat e custodion, thene i ne guarantes that
this o ary custodian that the Fund may use froe time to time, will not become mnsabent, which coukd fesd o kosses for
thee Fund.

While bath the LS. Bankruptoy Code and the Securities inwestor Protection Act of 1570 seck o proted customer property
in the evert of 3 Pailune, insobaency of Bouidation of sn institution, thene i2 no corteinty that, in the event of & fadure of an
instiution that has custody of Furd asiets, the Fund would not mnour losies due to B3 saseti being urevallable for a period
of tiere, ultimately less than full recovery of its msets, or bath. Because all of the Fund's cadh is in cudtady with 8 single
institution, such losses couldl be sgrificant ard could matenally impair the abslity of the Furd to achieve its irvesament
objectivie The Fund is subjiect to-onedit risk fo (he exchent that this institution may be unable to fulfill s abfigations to repey
MTOUNS Switd,

Litroi ity Rick

Irreestars should be avwsre that the value of Units might fall 22 well 85 fise. immstment in the Fund imobass 8 degree of risk,
thede car be no assurance that the Fund's irvesiment objective will be adhieved,
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

FINANCEAL RISKE MANAGEMENT [rontinued)

Liguigly Risk {continud)

The fund is exposed to daily repurchase of its Units but management belimies that the Fund has saiffidiem resounoes to
meiet the present and foreseeable needs of its business operations and, i necessary, the Equadity to fund repurchases and
achiewe a marked position appropriately reflecting a smaller capital baze. This position is monitored continually by
managament (o ensure that the Furd has the ability 10 meet ks obligmions,

Tha Trustee, after conwization with the Marager, may suspersd the issuance ard repurchase of units and payments in
respect of such transactions in ary ciroamstances where the calculation of the Underlying Fund's Nat Asnat Value per unin
s suspended, The Trustee will inform unitholders of such 3 suspension 25 soon as practicable after & s imposed o lifted,
Subncription applications and repurchase notices cannot be withdriwn during such suspension and will be processed for
the pext Dealing date. All Unitholders of the Fund will be proseptly motified im writing of any such suspenseon and will ba
promptly rotified upon termination of such suspension,

Currency Rtk

The Uit peice of LSO Qass Units is detesmined in LSO, and the Unil peice of JPY Hedged Class Units is detenmined in
lapaness Yen while the Furd s denominated in U.5 dollars. The Fund, howsver, may invest a portion, or all o, its assets in
DhPEr CUMENGIES, OF BN anstrumments dencersinated in non-Japane Yan of non-LUS Dollar currenges, the prices of which will
be drtermined with reference to such nor-fapanese Yon of non US Dollar curencies. The value of the Fund's assets will
Nustuate with Japaree Yon exdhange rates 35 well 35 the price changes of its imsestments in the vadious local markets and
ourrengies,

Ther Fund alsa may wilize options and forward contracts to hedge against cumency fctuations, but there can b no
assurance that such bedging transactions will be effective, and such fechnicues entail costs and additioral risks,

The imastment mansger monitors the Fund's cumency mposwre on a daily basis,

Other Risk

In 2020, the COVID-19 outbreak was declared a pandemis by the Woeld Health Orgarization, The situstion is dynamic with
wariows dities and countries arcurd the word responding in different ways to address the outbeeak, The rapic developmens
and fuidity of this sitvation prechudes any prediction as its ultimate bmpact, which may hive a continued adverse impact
o econtie ard market conditions and trigper & peviead of gobal econamie slowdown

The Trustee and Irvestmert Mansger are monitonng devclopments relaticg fo COVID-19 ard ae oordineting their
operational redponde bated on existing busires comfinuity plant and on guidance from global keshh orgarizations,
relevant governmants, and general pandemic response best practioes,

BORROWINGS

The Manager andfor its delegates may borrow monies for the account of the Fund provided that it will not borrow money
if, a% a result of such bomowing, the aggregate amount of outstanding borrowings effected on behalf of the Fund would,
merediately following such borrowing, excend 10% of the valls of Its net assets, saove that this limit may be exceeced
temporarily for a pericd not exoeeding 12 months in special situations including, without Bmitation, a menger of the Fund
with anather series trust, imsestment fund or other type of collective imvestmant scheme,

Thare wens no bormgwings curing the yeer ended December 31, 2021,
COPARMTRAENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

In the rormal course of business, the Trustee en behalf of the fund may erter into cortracts that contain a varkesy of
mpresentations and svarrarties and which proside general indemnifications, The gereral indemnifications apply not only
b the extent such representations and warranties are unimue bu! also may cover third parties such as the Furd's
Administrator, Auditor or wmnstment Manager for chims related to the serdces porformed for the Fund, The Trustes's
T exposure under any such amangements is uwknown, a5 exposure only anises 1o the extent fubure daims the
have not yet oooured ane made against the Trustes. H er, bases on experience, the Trustes pxpects the risk of loss to
b remate.
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Managemant performed a subsequent events redew up i June 8, 2022 which & the dote the finandal statements were
wvailable to be siued.

Effective January 1, 3127 through June 8, 3122, there were subscoriptions of U0 552670 and thore were redemptions of
UG 3,791,524 in respect of JPY Hiedged Class Urits, There were distributions of nil in respect of |PY Hecged Class Urits,

Effective January 1. 2022 through Jupe 8, 2132, there were subscriptions of USD 16,389,898 and there wene redemptions
of LD 14,613,413 in respect of LSD Class Units, Thene wern distrifngions of nill in respect of USS Qlass Units,

On February 24, 20032, Aussia laundhed a military imasion into Ukralre. Russia’s imasion of Ulrsine carries significant risks
for @ world economy that hes yet 1o fully recover from the impacts of the global COVID-19 pardemic, The impect of the
comequential geo-political instabdity, financial market volatility, and kmposition of sanctions on the entity are not posssble
ta Forecast ot this time,
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2020 12 31

TRP
2020 12 31
120,692,247
136,866,421 17,636,607
3,137,862 404,345
52,144 6,719
140,056,427 18,047,671
696,689 89,775
187,724 24,190
86,590 11,158
83,696 10,785
37,990 4,895
29,032 3,741
11,955 1,541
9,233 1,190
8,664 1,116
961 124
105,086 13,541
1,257,620 162,057
138,798,807 17,885,614
111,214,613 14,331,115
27,584,194 3,554,499
138,798,807 17,885,614
2,825,977,115
195,853 14,429
111,427,243
7,279,913 15.31 1,973

128.86
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TRP

2020 12 31

3,484 449
3,484 449
448,606 57,807
193,246 24,902
129,109 16,637
92,291 11,893
20,705 2,668
15,712 2,025
10,474 1,350
2,045 264
127,164 16,386
1,039,352 133,931
(1,035,868) (133,482)
9,623,078 1,240,030
735,653 94,796
10,358,731 1,334,826
10,706,435 1,379,631
74,990 9,663
10,781,425 1,389,294
21,140,156 2,724,121
20,104,288 2,590,639

128.86
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2020 12 31

231,597
7,640,129

160,771
3,462,516

128.86
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(1,035,868) (133,482)
10,358,731 1,334,826
10,781,425 1,389,294
20,104,288 2,590,639
28,779,425 3,708,517

105,579,202 13,604,936

(19,488,973) (2,511,349)

(44,993,780) (5,797,898)
69,875,874 9,004,205
89,980,162 11,594,844
48,818,645 6,290,771

138,798,807 17,885,614




TRP
2020 12 31
TRP
2018
2012 10 15
2009
2018

CIBC

UFJ PB

FASB

946

GAAP

14
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NAV

GAAP
GAAP

ASU  2015-07

2020 12 31

2020 12 31

52,144 52,144
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52,144 52,144
2020 12 31

(9,233) (9,233)

(9,233) (9,233)
FASB ASC 740

50
884,982 4,113
48
8,854,605 28 736,875
SICAV
SICAV us
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2020

2019

2020

2020

12

12

12

12

12

31

31
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SICAV 2010 12 17

UCITS
CSSF

S&P 400

)
)
() ) )

12,799,567 36,019,078 48,818,645
28,779,425 105,579,202 134,358,627
(19,488,973)  (44,993,780)  (64,482,753)
5,281,545 14,822,743 20,104,288

27,371,564 111,427,243 138,798,807

125,027 3,102,300 3,227,327
231,597 7,640,129 7,871,726
(160,771)  (3.462,516)  (3,623,287)
195,853 7,279,913 7,475,766
139.76 15.31
10.00
10,000
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2018 27
2020 12 31
10
10
0.001 10,000
2020 12 31
2020 12 31 696,689
10
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ASC 815-10-50

a b
c
ASC 815
1SDA 1SDA
1SDA
2020 12 31 MNA
MNA
(O]
Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. 3,175 (3,175)
Citi PB 48,969 48,969
52,144 (3,175) 48,969
2020 12 31 MNA
MNA
(O]
Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. 9,233 (3,175) 6,058
9,233 (3,175) 6,058
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o

2020 12 31

52,144 9,233
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2020 12 31
732,762 77,377
0.28
0.03 2.5 0.25 2.5
0.24 0.22
2020 12 31 193,246 2020 12 31 29,032
0.07 2.5
0.06 2.5
0.05
60,000
0.05
50,000
2020 12 31 129,109 2020
12 31 37,990
0.015
15,000 2020 12 31
15,712 2020 12 31 11,955
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0.03
20,705 2020 12
0.65
448,606 2020 12 31
140,000
1,500
0.65
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COVID-19
COVID-19
13
10
12
2020 12 31
14
15
2021 18
2021 2021 18 4,064,718
11,092,947
2021 2021 18 28,232,373
34,236,082
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Arrate:

Investmants in Uindedying Fund, st fair value [cost of USD 120,6502,247)
Cash

Unraalized appreciation on forw ard foreign currency exchange cortracts
Torel aesets

Liabilities:

Payable for Units redeemed

Actrued distributors fess

Accrued professionsl fees

Accrugd organizaticn epenses

Acorued ougtodian and sub.admirestrator's fees
Actrued managem ent fees

Actrued trustee fees

Urrealited depreciation on barward borei g currency eschange contracts
Accrued agent company'sfees

Acorued ragistration fees

Other spenses

Teta liabilities

Met Assets Attributable to Unitholders

Analyiiz of Net Azt

Poedin capital

Total digributable samings

et Az1ets Agtributable te Unithelders

Met Ssset Value per Unit
{FY Hedged Class IPY 2,B25977,115 # 195,853 Units autstanding)
(L0 Crass UISDr 110,427, 143+ T.279,813 Units outstanding)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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LG 136,866, 421
ERERA:

£2,144

140,056,427

&G, 639
167,724
E6, 550
B350
7,990
3,032
11,955
9,233
8,664
961
105,085
1,357,630

uso 132,793 807

LED 111214, 643
27,584,194

usn 13

I 14,479

LD 1531
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

[Expressed in United States Dollar)

Ireestm ent Income:

Interest Lsh 3,464
Tota Inves mant Income 3,484

Euperaes:

Distribat or's Fees 488, 606

ban agerment fees 153,248

Custodian snd 5 - pdministrator’ s fees 129, 18

Profeszsional feos 93 2o

Agent company'shees ], TS

Trustee fees 15,712

Transfer agent fees 10,474

Reg stration faes > 045

Cither gapenses 127, 164
Tots Evpenses 109,352

Mot Irvartment Lot fae (1,035 B68)

Realized and Unraslis od Gaine f[Lodiat)

Healired gaing/losses)
Invegments Sales of Underlying Fund 9,623,078
Forsign cumency transactions and forward foreign ourcency eschange contracts T35, 653
fet redived gaing 10,358,731
Changs in urreslized apprecistion|deprsciation)
Investm ents in Linderl ying Fund 10, 06 435
Foregn currency translations and forward foreign currency exchange contracts 74,950
et change in unrealired appreciation 10 T8L425
et resdiced snd unrealized gains 21,140,156
Net increase in net assets resulting from operations usn 20,104 ZB8

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Inerense (Decrmage] in Met Sagets From:

Operations:

et investon ant losdes

Mat reskzed guins

et change in unrealized appreciation

et incresse in net assets resulting from operaticns

Capital Trensaction:

LUinits i ssued
IP¢ Hedged Olass (231,597 Urnits)
LD Clase {7,640, 1293 Units)

LUinits redeem ed
JFt Hedged Oase { 160, 77 1L Units)
S0 Class (3,862,516 Unitsh
heet increase in et sesets resulting from capital ransactions

Taotal Inerease in Mat Asiets
Met fssets:

Begnringof year
Erd of yomr

D (1035868)
10,358,731
10,781,425

20,104 88

26,779,425
105,579,202

{19.486,973)

{44,953, 760)
69,875,874
E0,980,162

4B 818645
w50 138 738807

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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TRP Us CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

ORGANIEZATION

TRF LS Core Growth Equity Fund {the “Fund”] is a series trust of the Nikko AM Offshore Funds, an open-ended unit trust
established by a supplemental trust ceed dated May 14, 2018 (the “Supplemental Trust Deed”), wnder the laws of the
Cayman slands Nikko AM Offshore Funds was established by a master trust deed dated October 15, 2012 [the “Master
Trust Deed”), under the laws of the Cayman slands and is Beensed with the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority pursuant
tor section 4{1){a} of the Mutual Funds Law (2009 Revition). The Fund commenced operations on June 28, 2018,

The Fund’s assets are managed on a day to day basis by Nikko AM Global Cayman Limited {the “Manager”). The Manager
delegates imestment management duties to Nikko Asset Mamagement Co., Ltd, [the “investment Manager”). The
Imestment Manager may dddegate responsibility for the management of the imvestrnent and rednvestment of certain parts
of the Fung's imestment portfolio to other nvestment maragers. The acministration of the Fund i delegated to Brown
Brothers Harriman & Co. {the “Custodian”® and “Sub-Administrator”), a imited partnership organized under the laws of the
State of Mew Yaork,

Thi imvestmnent objective of the Fund is to acheeve growth in the value of units over the long term by investing into a fund,
which invests mainly in a diversified portfolio of stocks of large and medium sized “blue chip” companies in the United
States,

Under the terms of the Supplemental Trust Deed and the Master Trust Deed, FirstCaribbean Intermational Bank and Trust
Company {(Cayman] Limited (formerly CIBC Bank and Trust Company (Cayman] Limited) fthe “Trustee” and the
“Administrator”) is named as Trustee of the Fund

The Manager appointed Mitsubishi UF] Morgan 5Stanley PB Securities Co., Lid to act as Agent Company [the “Agent
Company”] and to act & Distributor ({he "Distributor”] of Lnits in Japan,

SUMMARY OF SIGMIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Fund s an Investment Company that follows the accounting and reporting guidance in FASE Accourting Standards
Codification 946.

Use of Estimates

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting prindples generally accepted in
thie United States of America ("U.5 GAAR" ). The preparation of financial statements im accordance with L5, GAAP requires
the Fund's management 1o make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported armouwnts of assets and habilities amd
disclosures of contingent assets and liabalities at the date of the finandal statements and the reported amourts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period, Actual results, including the ultimate amownt realized upon the sale of
fair valued investiments, could differ from those estimates and such differences may be significant,

Basi of Accounting

Security and contractual tramsactions are recorded on a trade/contract-date basis. Interest income is recorded on an
effective yield basis, net of any applicable withholding tax. Interest expense and other expenses are recorded on an acarual
basis, Realized gairs and losses from seourity trarmactions are computed on the basis of the average cost of the weurities
wold or covered. Changes in the valuation of imestments are recorded in the Statement of Operations as unrealized
appredation of depreciation.

Valuation of lsvestmenls

Irmvestrents in other imvestment companies [“hedge funds™) are valued on the basis of the Ne? Asset Value [“NAV") per
share as reported by the administrators of those entities at the measurement date based upon poficies and progedures
adopted by the Fund, In cases where the Fund could in the nommal course of business redeem i3 underlying investment,
such imeestments are generally valued at the net asset valuations provided by the administrators of those entities.

Im cases where the Fund is unable (o redeem its underlping investanent, such imaestments in portfolio funds are abie valued
at the met asset valuations provided by the adminstrators of those entities, provided that the underlying portfolio funds
hawe calculated their net asset valuations in accordance with accounting measurement guidance whidh is applicable to
investment companies &.g investments within such underying investment companies have bean fair valued in accordance
with applicable U.5 GAAP, unless the Imestment Manager determines that sudh a valuation would not be the most
appropriate indicator of fair value, in which case the imvestment would be fair valued by the Imvestonent Mana ger,
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TRP Us CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

SUMPARY OF SIGMIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [continued)

Veduation of Investatents {contitued)

In accordance with the authoritative guidance on fair vilue measurements and disdosures under U5 GAAPR, the Fund
discloses the fair value of its imsestrments in a Merarchy that prioritizes the inputs 1o valuation techriques used 1o measure
the fair valse, The hierarchy gives the highest priority to valuations based upon unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities {Lewd 1 measurement) and the bwest priorty to valuations based wpon urobsermable
inputs that are significant to the valuation {Level 3 measurements). The guidance establishes three levels of the fair value
hierarchy as follows:

«  Level 1= Imputs that reflect vnadjusted quoted prices im active markets for identical investments that the Fund
has the ability to access at the measurement date;

*  Level 2 = Inputs other than quoted prices that are significant and observable for the asset or lability either
divectly oF indisectly, nchading mmpats in markets that are not considired to be active:

= Level 3 - inguts that are significant and unobservable,

Inputs are wsed in applying the various valuation techniques and broadly refer 1o the assumptions that market participants
use to make valuation decisions, inchuding assumptions about risk. Inputs may indude price information, spedfic and broad
eredit data, guidity statistics, and ofher factors, A finencial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy s based upon
the lowest level of any input that s significant to the far valuve measurement. However, the determination of what
comstitutes “obserable” requires significant judgment by the investment Manager. The Investment Marager considers
observable data to be market data which is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and verifiable, not
proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are actively imvolved in the relevant market. The categorization of a
firandial instrument within the kierarchy is based upon the pricing transparency of the instrument and does not recessarily
correspond to the investment Manager's percaved risk of that instrement,

Imvestments whose values are based on the quoted market prices in active markets, and therefore dassified within Level 1,
would inchede actively traded equities, certain U.5. government and sowvereign obligations, and certain money market
securities. The Investment Manager wondd not acjust the quoted price for such instruments, even in situations where the
Fuid held a latge posation and a sale eould deasanably impact the quoted price,

Imvestments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active, but are valued based on guoted market prices,
dealer guotations or slternative pridng sources supported by observable inputs are dassified within Level 2. These incdude
investment-grade debt securities, short-term investments and forward foreign currency exchange contracts, As Level 2
investrments indude positions that are not traded in active markets andfor are subject to transfer restrictions, valuations
may be adjusted to reflect iliquidity and/or ron-transferability, which are generally based on available market information,

Imvestments classified within Level 3 have sigrificant unobservable inputs, as they would trade infrequently. Lewvel 3
instrumsents would include aswet-backed securities and collateralized mortgage obligations, As observable prices are not

available for those securities, the Fund would vse valuation technigues to derive the fair value.

Thiz inputs or methodology wsed for valuing securities are not necessarly an indization of the risk associated with imvesting
in thone securities.

In atcordance with ASU 2015-07, the Fund's investment in other imeestment companies has not been categorized in the
fair value hierarchy nor in a roll forward of Imestment activity,

100/182



EDINETOOOO

OO000DO00oDOo00DOo0OooOodnE27078)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

SUPAPAARY OF SIGMIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [continwed)
Viofuation of Investments {contimeed)
Thi following table presents the financial imstroments carried on the Statement of Assets and Liabilities by caption and by

level withim the valuation hierarchy as of December 31, 2020, Further classifications of the financial instruments are
presented in the Portfolio of investments,

assets ot Fair Value Fair Value at
Lewvel 1 Lewel 2 Lewvel 3 December 31, 2000
Forward Foreign Cusrency
Exchange Contracts uE0 - s 51144 LIS - IS0 52144
Tatal =D - UsD 52144 LISDy - LSO 52 144
Uiabiktles at Fair Value Falr W alus ot
Level 1 Lewel 2 Lewel 3 December 31, 2020
Forward Foreign Currency
Enchonge Contracts usD - 50 {9,233} LIS = 0 13,.233)
Tatal 50 = a0 [9.233) LIS = S0 [E¥EE]]
Fareign Currency Transiation

Assets and Rabilities held in currencies other than United States Dollar ("USD" or the *Functional Currency”) are translated
to the Functional Currency at the rate of excharge prevailing at the financial statement date. Income and expenses are
tramslated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the date on which the income of expense i incwmed. Realized and
urrealized gains and losses arising on foreign currency transactions are incheded i the Statement of Operations in the
period in which they eccur.

The Fund doet nod isolate that portion of the retulis of operations resulling from changes in foreign exchange ratis on
investments from the fluctuations arising from dhanges in market prices of securities held. Sudh fluctuations are induded
with the net realized and unrealized gain or loss from investments.

Incodme Toxes

Under the current laws of the Cayman slands, there are no income, withholding, capital gains or other taxes payable by
the Fund. In certain jurisdictions other than the Cayman Islands, foreign taxes may be withheld at source on dividends and
interest received by the Fund. Capital gains derived by the Fund in such jurisdictions generally will be exempt from foreign
income or withholding taxes at source, The Fund intends to conduct its aFfairs such that it will not be subject {0 income tax
in any jurisdiction, As a fesult, no provision for income taxes has been made 0 the finandal statements, Unitholders may
betaxed on their proportionate share of the Fund's tax basis intome based on their individual drcumnstances.

Thie Fund follows the autheritative guidance on accounting for and disalsure of uncarfaity i tax positens (Finanasl
Accounting Sandards Board ("FASE") - Accounting Standards Codification 740], which requires the Manager 1o determine
whether a tax position of the Fund is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by the applicable taxing
authaxity, induding resolution of any related appeals or tigstion processes, based on the techrical merits of the position.
For tax positions meeting the more likely than not threshold, the tax benefit recognized in the financial statements is
reduced by the largest bemefit that has a greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement
with the relevar? taxng authority, The Manager has determined that these i minimal or no effect on the firancil
staternents being under this avthoritative guidance,

Forward Foreign Currency Exchange Contracts

The Fund may enter imto forward foreign currency exchange contracts to hedge against foreign currency exchange rate
risks on all or a portion of non-USE denominated investments or for effident portfolio management purposes. When
entering into 2 forwand foreign currency exchange confract, the Fund agrees to receive or deliver 3 fined guantity of
foreign currency for an agreed-upan price on an agreed future date. These contracts are valued daily, and the fumd's net
equity thersin, representing unrealized appredation/{depredation) on the confracts as measwred by the difference
between the forward foreign currency exchange rates at the dates of entry into the contracts and the forward rates at the
reporting date, is Included in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities. Realized and unrealized gains and losses are incuded
in the Statement of Operations.
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

SUPMPAARY OF SIGMIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [continued)

Forword Foreign Currency Exchange Contracts fcontineed)

These instrurments imobee market risk, credit risk, or both kinds of nisks, in excess of the amount recognized in the
Statement of Assets and Liabdlities, Risks arse from the possible inability of counterparties to mest the terms of their
contracts and from movement in currency and securities values and interest rates In addition to the Class level hedging,
the Fund had realived loss of USD 4,113 on 5 forward foreign currency exchange contracts during the year with an average
notional of USD 884,982 and an average term to maturity of 9 days, The Fund had net realized gain of USD 738,875 on 48
forward foreign currency exchange contracts held at the JPY Hedged (lass level during the year with an average notional of
UA0 8,854 605 and an average 1erm to maturity of 28 days.

Cash and Foreign Currency
Cash and foreign currency comprises all currency held with Broven Brothers Harrirnan & Co., and overnight and other short
term placements with other financial institutions.

INVESTIMENT IN THE UNDERLYING FUND

The: Fund shall prirarily imvest in shares of US 8lue Chip Equity Fund (the "Underlying Fund®), a sub-fund of T. Rowe Price
Funds SICAY, & sociélé dimvestissement & capital variable {"SICAV™) established under the laws of Lukembourg. The SICAV
qualifies as an Undertaking for Collective imvestment in Transferable Securities {"UCITS™) under Fart 1 of the Luxembourg
law of December 17, 2010 on undertakings for collective imwestrment [the "2010 law”] and is registered on the official list of
coflectve imestiment undertakings maintained by the Commissian de Sureeillance du Secteur Financier [“C55F”)

The objective of the Underlying Fund is to increase the value of its shares, over the long term through growth in the value
of its investments, by investing mainly in a diversified portfolio of stocks of large and medium Seed “blue chip” companies
in the United States.

specifically, the Underlying Fund imveste st least two-thirds of total aswets in ecuaty snd equity-refated securities of
companies that are either incorporated in the United States of America or conduct most of their business there, that hawve
a market capitalisation equal to or greater than the companies in the Aussell Mid-cap index or SEF Mid-cap 400 Index, and
that have a leacing market position, seasoned maragement and strong financal fundamentals, Types of securities may
indude cornmnan docks, prefened stocks, wairants, Amenean Depesitory Recepts (“ADRS"), Evropean Depasitory Receipts
{“EQRs") and Global Depository Receipts [“GORs ™).

Thie Underlying Fund does not imest more than one-third of s assetsin debt and money marke? securities.
The Underlying Fund may use derivatives for hedging and efficient portfolio management,

The Underlying Fund’s financial statements are prepared under generally accepied accounting prncples in Luxembourg
and the accounting polides of the Underlying Funds are substantially consistent with those of the Fund. Units of the

Underlying Furd may be redeemed on each Business Day,
UNITS

The net assets of the Fund are divided into JPY Hedged Class Units and LS0 Class Units, The Units are denominated in
Japanese Yen and United States Dollar, JPY Class Units and USD Class Units are svailable to an eligible mvestor who is amy
persan, corporation or ertity which i not (i} a8 “US Investors™ (as defined below): [ii] 8 person or entity resident or
domiciled in the Cayman |slands {excluding any object of a charitable trust or power or an exempted or non-resident
Cayman islands company): (Fl] unable to subseribe for or hold Units without violating applicable laws: and (v] a custodian,
nominee, of trustee for any person, corporation or entity desaribed in (1) 1o (§il) above, or such other persons, corporations
or enfities as determined ffom time to time by the Marager, with the approval of the Trustee,

While all or substantially all of the assets of the Fund may be held in U5 Dollars, it is intended for the Fund to enter into
hedging arrangements for the benefit of JPY Hedged Class Units, whidh are denominated in Japanese Yen. Those
arrangements will be to hedge agairst adverse movements of the currency of denomination of the investments in the
Series Trust relative to Yen. Any profits, gains, losses, costs, income and expenditure associted with such hedging
arrangaments will be borne by JFY Hedged Qass Uinits.
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TRP US CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

LIS {continued)

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the notional exposure on the [PY Hedged Class forward ourrency exchange
contracts approdmated the average net assets for JPY Hedged Class being net long JPY and short LSD, Open contracts at
year end are disclosed in the Portfolio of mvestments.

The Manager may determine to issue ohe or more dasses of Units of the Fund withouwt prior notice to or written consent of
the Unitholders.

Allof the net assets attributable to JPY Hedged Qlass Units and USD Class Urits are beld by one Unitholder.

P Hedged Class WSO Class Tatal Fund
Balanca at December 31, 3019 ush 13793567 USD 36019078 WD 48818645
Subﬁﬂntlunsdmmgthevﬂr 28,779,425 105,579,202 134,358,627
Redemptions during the yesr (19.486,973) (44,993, 750) (64,432, 753)
Mt intrasca In et assats resuitng from operstions 5281545 14,822,743 20,104,268
Mt Agsets o December 31, 2020 LISD £7, 371,564 LISD 111427 03 LUSD 138,799,807
Bumber af Unitsin oue st Decem ber 31, 20158 125,007 3,402,300 3,773
Unitg i seued during the yesr 131,597 TE0,129 TETLTIE
Units redeem ed during the year (160,771) [3.462,516] (3623.287)
Mumber af Uinitdin goue st Decem ber 31, 2020 195,853 T.779,953 T.475, 766
Hat Asset \Valoe per Und ot Decer ber 31, 2020 (§24] 138.76 LISD 15.31

Subscriplions for Units

UA0 Class Lnits were subscribed for by Eligible Imvestors during the Initial Offer Period at the initial purchase price of USD
10,00 per Unit, JPY Hedged Class Units were subseribed for by Eligible investors during the Initial Offer Period at the initial
purchase price of JPY 10,000 per Unit, The initial Offer Period cormmenced on June 18, 2018 and ended on June 77, 2018, in
addition to the subscription price, the applicant shall pay a sales charge calculated at up to 3% [excuding any tax
applicable] of the purchase price, to the Distributor. There were no sales charges paid during the year ended December 31,
2020,

During the nitial Offer Period, the minimum subscription for USD Class Units per subscriber was 10 Units or more, and in
miultiples of 1 Unit thereafter. During the initial Offer Period, the minimum initial subscription for JPY Hedged Class Units
per subscriber was 1 Unit of more, and in multiples of 1 Units thereafier,

On and after the Initial Clogng Day, the minimum subscription for WSO Class Wnits per Unitholder is either 10 Units or
more, and i multiples of 0.001 Units thereafter of USD 100, and in muliphes of USD 0.01 theteafter, On and aftier the
Initial Closing Day, the minimum subscription for JPY Hedged Class Units per Unitholder is efther 1 Unit or more, and in
multiples of 0.001 Units thereafter or JPY 10,000 and in multiples of 1FY 1 thereafter.

The Manager may waive or change the minimuem initial and additional subseription amounis et forth above in its sole
discretion from time to time.

Uit Redentplions

The Fund recognires redemptions in accordance with the authoritative guidance on distinguishing Babilities from equity.
Redemptions, whether expressed as United States Dollar, Japanese Yen or Units, are recognized as liabilities when each of
the Japanese Yen and United States Dollar Unit amounts regquested in the redemption notice becomes fixed, which
generally may ooour either at the time of the receipt of the notice, or on the last day of a fiscal year, depending on the
nature of the request. As a result, redemptions paid after the end of the year, but based upon year end net assets are
reflected as redemptions payable at December 31, 2020, There were USD 696,689 and JPY ril of redemplions payable a1 at
December 31, 2020 inchuded as Payable for Units redeamed in the Statermnent of Assets and Liabilities,

Repurchase of Unils
Units may be repurchased at the option of Unitholders on each Repurchase Day (means each Valuation Day, or such ather
day or days as the Manager may from time to time determine in respect of the Series Trust).

Uritholders wishing to have Units repurchased must send a completed Repurchase Notice to the Distributor 20 a8 to be
received by the Distributor no later than 3:00 pon {Tokyo tirme) on the relevant Repurchase Day, The Dstributor will send
the completed Repurchase Notices to the Sub-Administrator by no later than 6:00 pan (Tokyo time] on the relesant
Repurchase Day or by such other time as the Sub-Administrator may in any particular case determine.
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TRP Us CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

LIS | continued)
Repurchase of Unils foontinwed)

If the relevant Repurchase Notic is not received by the Sub-Admisisteator by the rebevant time, the Repurchase Notice will
be held over until the next Repurchase Day and Units will then be redeemed at the relevant repurchase price applicable on
that Repurchase Day. In the event either the day after the relevant Dealing Cay or the day falling two days after the
relevart Dealing Doy i3 2 day on which barks or stock exchanges in Japan are not open for normal business, any
Repurchase Notice received on such Dealing Day, shall not be accepted and instead, will be acoepted on the next Dealing
Day.

A Repurchase Notice, once given, is irrevocable.

Compulsory Redemplion
Irrthi event that the Trustee of the Manager shall determine that any Units of any class of a Fund afe being beld by of for
the benefit of a person who is not an Eligible investor for such Fund or that such holding would cause the Trust or the Fund
to be required 1o register, be subject to tax or violate the laws of any jurisdiction, or if the Trustes or the Manager has
reason to doubt the legitimacy of the source of monies vsed to fund the subscription or purchase of such Lnits, or for
whatever reason {which may not be disdiosed by the Trustee or the Manager to Unitholders] that the Trustee or the
Manager considers appropriate at its absolute discretion having regard to the interests of the Unitholders of the rebevant
Chass or the Unitholders of the Fund as a whole, then the Manager, after consuliation with the Trustee, may direct the
hedder thereof to sell [subject to the provisions desoribed below in the section headed “Tramfer of Units®) such Umits
within 10 days and provide to the Trustee and the Manager evidence of such sale, failing which the Manager may redeem
such Units,

Termination of the Fumd
Upon termination, the Mamager will realize all the assets of the Fund, and after paying out or retaining adequate provision
for all labilities. properly payable and retaining provision for the costs of the termination, the Trustee shall distribute the
procesds of that realization 1o the Unitholiders proportionately to ther respective intenests in the Fund a1 of the date of
termination of the Fund.

Distributions fo Litholders

The Manager may, from time to time, in i1 sole discretion, declare distributions from May 2019, Distribution will be
declared armually on each Distribution Record Date 2nd calculated on each Ex-Cistribution Date. Distribution Period is a
periad commencing from the calendar cay following the preceding Distribution Record Date and ending on and induding
the Distrbution Aecord Date. The distributions will be paid on the relevant Distribution Payment Date, provided that such
amount [if any] declared with respect 1o the relevant Class of Units in respect of the applicable Distribution Period shall
anly be paid out of the Fund's ret income, realized and unrealized capital gains and any distributable funds of the Fund
attributable 1o such Class of Units as determined by the Manager.

The declaration of distributions to Unitholders reduces the Class Level Net Asset Value per Unit without any corresponding
change in the number of Class Level Units per Unitholder. This results in a Unitholder's overall investanent in the Fund
being reduced. In addition, any distributions during a period which are in excess of the Fund's net increase in net assets
resulting from operat ions results in a portion of the distribution being retum of capital,

The amgurt of distributions, if any, will be determined by the Manager in its sole oncretion, and no representation of
guarantes is made that & distribution will be madein respect of sach or any Distribution Period,

Capitalization
The Net Asset Value per Unit is calculated for each Dealing Day (eadh Valuation Day, or such other day or days as the

Marager may from fime 1o ime determing inrespect af the Fund), by dividing the difference in value between the Fund's
assats and Habdities {inchuding acerued fees and expenses of the Fund] by the number of Units cutstanding.

The Trust Deed stipulates that the number of Units to be issued in the Fund shall be unlimited as the Manager <hall
determine and shall be without par value.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Accounting Sandard Codification (A5C) £15-10-50 requires disdosures about derivative instruments and hedging activities.
It requires that the Fund disdiose: a) how and why an entity vses derivative instruments, b) how dervative instruments and

related hedged items are accounted for and c] how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entity’'s
firandal position, financial performance and cash flows,
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DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The Fund transacts forward derivative instruments primarily for bedging purposes with eadh instrument’s primary risk
exposure being foreign exchange risk The forward foreign currancy exchange comtracts held by the Fund do not qualify as
hedges for accounting purposes under the regquirements of ASC 815, The fair value of these derbative instruments is
induded i the Statement of Assets and Liabilities with changes in fair value reflected as realired gainsf{losses) or met
charge in unrealized appredation/[depreciation] on derivatives within the Statement of Operations {Note 2],

The Fund may enter into an Intermational Swaps and Derivative Association, Inc. Master Agreement (I50A Master
Agreement ™) with its counterparties in order 1o mitigate counterparty risk. The BOA Master Agreement is typically
negotivted by the Fund and its counterparties, containing the bilateral terars and conditions for all subseguent dervative
tramsactions. The SDA Master Agresment sllows for the netting of all amounts ocwed to or due from counterparty into a

single net payment if a credit event or default should ocour.

The Furd has elected to not offwet fair value receivables and payables for cervative contracts on the face of the Statement

of Assets and Liabilities,

At December 31, 2020 the Fund had entered mto the following derivative assets by counterparty net of amounts available
for offset under a Master Netting Agreement ["MNA") and net of any collateral received by the Fund:

Dervative Assets Derbratives Mon-cash Cashi Met Amount of
Connterparty Subject to a MMA  Svailable for Offret Collateral Received Collsteral Recebved Derbeathve Assets’
Brown Brothers Harmman & Co. LI FAT5LIED (3, 175150 —LIS0 — LIS -
Oxi PR 43,969 - - - 43,969
Tatl uso L2, 144050 ;a_r?s'iusn ~ush —Us0 48,969

At December 31, 2020 the Fund had entered into the following dervative labilities by courterparty net of amounts
available for offset under 2 MMA and net of any collateral pledged by the Fund:

Derdathe Met &mount af
Counterparty Unbilities Derbrathoes Mon-cash Cash Dervative
Subject toa MMNA_Available for Offiet Collaters| Pledged Collateral Pladped Liabilities *
Brown Brothers Marnman & Ca.  LED 9,233uU50 (3, 1751L50 =LI50 - LD 5,058
Tatsl UsD 9,233 {3,175) UsD -usD - UsD 6,058
L BT Setsunt equals tha Fret sevou nE re cevabie payalie from Die counterp ety in the svees of default.
At December 31, 20X the Fund had entered into the following derivatives:
Agsget Derbatives Liskility Derhvathes
Darivative: Statemort Statamant
Met Aeeourted for ot ef Asrats nned ef Aggets snd
Hedging Instruments Liabilities Location Fair'Walue Liabilities Location Fadr Value
Forward foreign currency  Unroalized appreciation Unireafi ned depreciation
exchange contracts on forward faneign on farward foresgn
{Currency Rigk) turmincy exchange LED SEAEE  currency exchange LIsD 9,733
COrdiairs COMNITaCTS
The effect of derivative instruments on the Setement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2020
Derivatives Mot
Surcounted Loecation of Realired thange in Unreallzed
for as Hedpging Bain or{Loss) Gain or {Loss) Appredation or (Depreciation] on
Instruments on Derivatives an Derivative: Dariathoes
et realized gan on forward foreign
Foreard forsign currency  currency enchange confracts
suchange contracts change in ureealized sppreciation on forsard
{Currency Rigk) I'nrtlin currency sachange contracts LIE0 732,762 1D 71,377
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TRP Us CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

MANAGEMENT FEES

The Manager i entitled to receive out of the assets of the Fund a management fee of a todal of up to 0.28% per annum
{0033 per annum in respect of the fee for the Manager and 0.25% per annum for the portion of the Net Asset Value up to
US0 250 million, 0.24% per annum for the portion of the Net Asset Value over USD 250 million wp to USD 500 million and
0.32% per annum for the portion of the Net Asset Value owver USD 500 million in respect of fee for the imvestment
Manager) of the Net Asset Value acerued on, and calculated 25 at, each Valuation Day and payable monthly in arrears, in
addition, the Manager is alse entitled to be rambursed out of the ssets of the Fund for any expenses imturred by it in the
proper performance of its powers and duties as permitted under the Master Trust Deed.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Manager earmed fees of USD 193,246, of which USD 20067 s still
outstanding as of December 31, 2020,

The Manager will pay the fees of the Investment Manager cut of its fees, The imvestment Manager will be respansible for
paying the fees of any of its delegates or other parties appointed by the Investment Manager to perform its functions in
respect of the Fund: provided, howsever, the Investment Marager may charge a transaction fee on the subsarniptions amd
redemptions of thares of the Underlying Fund,

CUSTODNAN AND SUE-ADMINISTRATOR'S FEES

The Fund has a8 custody and accouwnting agreement with Brown Brothers Harreman & Co. (the “Custodian™ and “Sub-
Adrministrator”) for which the Custodian receves a fee calculated and paid monthly based on total astets and transaction
verlume.

The Custodian and Sub-Administrator is entitled to receive out of the assets of the Fund an administration fee (inchuding
tramsfer agent fee) on the Net Asset Value scerved on, and caleulated a3 at, each Valustion Doy ot the following annual
rate:

- QU075 up o {and incheding) USD 250 million;

= (UDG6% up to [and inchuding] USE 500 million;

- 0055 over USD 500 million.

Such administration fee is payable monthly in arrears, and subject to the minimum annual fee of USDE 60,000, The Sub-
Administrator is also entitled fo receive out of the assets of the Fund fees for currency administration and execution
services at the rate of 0.05% per annum of the Net Asset Value of the relevant Unit Class, subject to the mininsum annual
fee of USD 50,000 i addition, the Custodiam and Sub-Administrator is also entitled to receive customary safekeeping fees
and trarsaction charges. All out-of-packet expenses of the Custodian and Sub-Administrator shall also be borme by the
Fund, During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Custodian earned fees of USD 129,109, of which USD 37,990 is «till
outstanding as of December 31, 2020

TRUWSTEE FEES AND ADMINISTRATOR'S FEES

The Trustee is entitled to receive out of the assets of the Fund a combined fee at the rate of 0.015% per annum of the Net
Asset Value accreed on, and calculated as at, each Valuation Day and payable guartery in arrears, subject to a minimum
annual fee of USD 15,000, During the year ended Decernber 31, 2020, the Trustee earned fees of US0 15,712, of which UsD
11,955 is still outstanding as of Gecember 31, 2020,

AGENT COMPANY™S FEES

The Agent Company is entitled to receive oul of the assets of the Fund a fee at the rate of 0.03% per annum of the Met
Asset Value accrued on, and calculated as at, each Valuation Doy and payable quarterly in arrears, During the year ended
December 31, X020, the Agent earned fees of USD 20,705, of which USD 8,664 s still outstanding as of December 31, 2020,

DISTRIBUTIOR'S FEES
The Distributor is entitled to receive out of the assets of the Fund a fee at the rate of 0.65% per annum of the Net Asset
Value accrued on, and calculated as at, each Valuation Day and payable guarterly in arrears. Dwring the year ended

December 31, 2030, the Oistribut ors eamed fees of USD 448,606, of which LUSD 187,724 s still outstanding as of December
3l 2020,
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TRP Us CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

OTHER FEES AND EXPENSES

The costs and expenses in connection with the establishment of the Fund and the offering of the Units, together with the
establishment of the Trust, inchuding the costs and expenses of preparing and prinfing any prospectus or explanatory
brochures required, are estimated to amount to approsimately USD 140,000, Such costs and expenses will be amortised
within the first five [5) financial years of the Fund unless the Trustee deddes that some other method shall be applied. The
Administrator receives USE 1,500 per annum for FATCA / CRS compliance senvices,

The Underlying Fund is entitled to receive out of the assets of the Underying fund, a fee at the rate of 0LES% per annum of
the Net Asset Value of the Underlying Fund,

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Fund's activities expose it to a vanety of financial risks; market risk [including price risk, interest rate risk, and currency
risk], credit risk and lguidity risk.

Market Risk
Allimvestrments present & ridk of loss of capital, The Imestment Manager moderates this risk through a careful selection of
securities and other finandal instrument s.

Thiz Furs's investment management process is deseribed i Note 1. The primary determinant of the Fund's ability to meet
its objective of mid to long term capital appreciation while eaming income i3 dependent on the performance of the
investment in the Underlying Fund,

Thi values of the Fund's imeestments are affected by a number of factors, incheding but rot Bnfted to, changes in the wider
economy, financial and currency markets, forelgn currency exchange rates and interest rate movements. The Fund enters
into forward contracts whish to varying degrees represent a market risk in excess of the amount reflested on the Fund’s
Statement of Assets and Liabilities. The notisnal amount of the forward contract represents the extent of the Fund's
participation in these financial instruments. Market risks assodated with such forward contracts arise due to the possible
movernants in foreign currency exchange rates underlying these instruments.

nher market and credit fitks inchede the posubility that theee may be an illiguid market for the contracts, that the change
in the value of the comtract may not directly comrelate with changes in the value of the underlying currencies or that the
counterparty to a forward contract defaults on its obligation to perfosin wnder the terms of the contract. The Fund's
exposure toloss due 1o counterparty non-performance on open futures, forwards, swap and options contracts is limited 1o
the unrealized appredation inherent in such financial instruments which are recognized in the Statement of Assels and
Liabrilities,

Credit Risk

Credit risk represents the potential loss that the Fund would incur if the counterparties, failed to perform pursvant to the
termns of their obligitions to the Fund, For exchangetraded contracts, the exchange acts a4 the counterparty io specific
tramsactions and, therefore, bears the risk of delivery 1o and from counterparties of specific positions. The Fund's
managernent does not consider that credit risk refated to open derivative contracts will have material adverse effect on the
fimandial condition of the Fund,

Although the Manager monitors the Custodian and believes it to be an approgeiate custodian, there 5 no guarantee that
this or any custodian that the Fund may vse from time to time, will not become insolvent, which could lead to losses for
the Fund,

While both the U5 Bankruptcy Code and the Securities Investor Protection Act of 1970 seek to protect customer property
in the event of a faihere, imsclvency o liguidation of an institution, there is no certainty that, in the event of 3 failure of an
institution that has custody of Fund assets, the Fund would not incur losses due 1o its awets being unavailable for 3 period
of time, ultimately less than full recovery of its assets, or both. Because all of the Fund's cash is in custody with a single
institution, such losses eould be significant and could matenially impair the ability of the Fund to achieve it mvestinent
obgective, The Fund is subject to credit fisk to the extent that this institution may be unable to fulfill its obligations (o repay
amounts owed.

Ligedkdity Risk

Irvestors should be aware that the value of Units might fall as well as rse. Investment in the Fund invobées a degree of risk;
there can be no assurance that the Fund's investment objective will be achieved,
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TRP Us CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT [continucd)
Liguidity Risk (continued)

The Fund is exposed o daily repurchase of its Units but mansagement believes that the Fund has sufficient resources to
meet the present and foreseeable needs of its business operations and, if necessary, the liquidity to fund repurchasas and
achiese a market position appropriately reflecting 2 smaller capital base. This position is monitored continually by
managerment 1o enswre that the Fund has the ability to meet its obligations.

The Trustee, after consultation with the Manager, may suspend the issuance and repurchase of units and payments in
respect of such transactions in any drcumstances where the calouation of the Underlying Fund's Net Asset Value per unit
is suspended. The Trustee will inform unitholders of such a suspension as soon as practicable after it is imposed or Kifted.
Subscription applications and repurchase notices cannot be withdrawn during such suspension and will be processed for
the next Dealing date, All Unithelders of the Fund will be promptly natified in writing of any such suspension and will be
promptly rotified upon termination of such suspansion,

Currency Risk

Thie Unit price of USD Class Units 15 determined in USD, and the Unit price of JPY Hedged Class Units is determined in
lapanese Yen while the Fund is denominated i LS. dollars. The Fund, howresder, may imvest & portion, o all of, its assets m
other currencies, or in instruments denominated in non-lapanese Yen or non-US Dollar currencies, the prices of which wall
be deterrined with reference to such non-lapanese Yen or non US Dollar currendies, The value of the Fund's assets will
fluctuate with Japanese Yen exchange rates as well as the price changes of its investments in the variows kboal markets and
currencies.

The Fund also may utilize options and foreard contracts to hedge against currency fluctuations, but there can be mo
assurance that such hedging transactions will be effective, and such technigues entail costs and additional risks.

The irvestment manager monitors the Fund's currency exposure on a daily basis.

Oihver Risk

During the year, the COVID-19 owtbreak was declared o pandemic by the World Health Orgardration, The situation i3
dynante witl varnous cities and egnthies mround the wadd retponding in differest wayt 1o sddress the outbeeak, The
rapsd development and fluidity of this situation predudes any prediction as its ultimate impact, which may have 3
continued adwerse impact on economic and market conditions and trigger a periad of global economic dowdown.

The Trustes and Imeestrment Manager are monitoring devel opments relating to COVIE-19 and are coordinating their
operational response based on exsting business continmaty plans and on guidance from global health onganizations,
rebevant governments, and general pandemic response best practices.

BORROWINGS

The Manager andfor its delegates may borrow manies for the account of the Fund provided that it will not borrow money
if, as a result of such borrowing, the aggregate amount of outstanding bormowings effected on behalf of the Fund would,
immediately following such borrowing, exceed 10% of the value of its net assets, save that this limit may be exceeded
temporarily for a period not exceeding 12 months im special situations induding, without imatation, 8 merger of the Fund
with another series trust, investment fund or other type of collective imvestment scheme,

Thire were o borrowangs during the year ended December 31, 2000,
COPMITMENTS AND CONTINGEMNCIES

In the nermal course of business, the Trustee on behal of the Fund may enter into contracts that contzin a variety of
representations and warranties and which provide general indemnifications. The general indemnifications apply not only
tor the extent such representations and warranties are wntroe but also may cover third parties such & the Fund's
Adminttrator, Auditor of Investrmant Manager for daims redated to the services performed for the Fund. The Trustes's
maximum expasure under any such arrangements is unknown, as exposure only arises to the extent future claims that
hawe not yet occurred are made against the Trustee, However, based on experience, the Trustee expects the risk of loss to
be remate.
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TRP Us CORE GROWTH EQUITY FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Management perforned a subsequent events review up 1o June 18, X021 which is the date the financial statements were
available fo be issued.

Effective January 1, 2021 through June 18, 2021, there were subscriplions of US0 4,064, 718 and there were redemptions
of USD 11,092,347 in respect of IFY Hedged Class Units. There were distributions of nil in respect of 1PY Hedged Class Units.

Effective January 1, 2021 through June 18, 2021, there were subscriptions of USD 28,232,373 and there were redemptions
of USD 34,236,082 in respect of USE Class Units. There were distributions of nilin respect of USD Class Units
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2022
133,116,642.60 17,153,410,565
1,510,239.65 194,609,481
131,606,402.95 16,958,801,084
9,202,045
75,882
13.51 1,741

12,572

110/182



EDINETOOOO
OO000DO00oDOo00DOo0OooOodnE27078)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Brown Brothers Harriman & Co.
MA02109-3661 40
40 Water Street Boston, MA02109-3661 U.S.A.

10
10

15

21

50

@ ®)
©

111/182



o
2022
480,000
1,000,000 2,886
2003 26

@

480,000

30,000

112/182

6,185

EDINETOOOO
OO000DO00oDOo00DOo0OooOodnE27078)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

128.86
128.86 1,000,000

2007 30 450,000



2022
5,064

25

EDINETOOOO
OO000DO00oDOo00DOo0OooOodnE27078)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

3,930

2022

12
13

249,949,784 ,451
2,022,576,205

90

113/182



EDINETOOOO
OO000DO00oDOo00DOo0OooOodnE27078)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

131

2022 28
UFJ 128.86

114/182



EDINETOOOO
OO000DO00oDOo00DOo0OooOodnE27078)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2021 31
2021 2020
7,947,000 1,024,050 5,628,385 725,274
1,941,186 250,141 2,851,607 367,458
71,250 9,181 70,125 9,036
9,959,436 1,283,373 8,550,117 1,101,768
9,959,436 1,283,373 8,550,117 1,101,768
218,179 28,115 148,200 19,097
156,805 20,206 79,840 10,288
1,183,495 152,505 1,643,547 211,787
1,558,479 200,826 1,871,587 241,173
480,000 2021 31
2020 31
480,000 480,000 61,853 480,000 61,853
7,920,957 1,020,695 6,198,530 798,743
8,400,957 1,082,547 6,678,530 860,595
9,959,436 1,283,373 8,550,117 1,101,768
2021 12
129332
128.86
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2021 31
2021 2020
7,947,000 1,024,050 5,628,385 725,274
1,941,186 250,141 2,851,607 367,458
71,250 9,181 70,125 9,036
9,959,436 1,283,373 8,550,117 1,101,768
1 0.129 1 0.129
1 0.129 1 0.129
9,959,437 1,283,373 8,550,118 1,101,768
218,179 28,115 148,200 19,097
156,805 20,206 79,840 10,288
1,183,495 152,505 1,643,547 211,787
1,558,479 200,826 1,871,587 241,173
480,000 2021 31
2020 31
480,000 480,000 61,853 480,000 61,853
7,920,958 1,020,695 6,198,531 798,743
8,400,958 1,082,547 6,678,531 860,596
9,959,437 1,283,373 8,550,118 1,101,768
2021 12
129332
128.86
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2021 31
2021 2020

18,599,369 2,396,715 19,213,975 2,475,913
18,599,369 2,396,715 19,213,975 2,475,913
(1,225,898) (157,969) (1,183,017) (152,444)
(15,229,787)  (1,962,510) (15,585,538)  (2,008,352)
(227,557) (29,323) (244,274) (31,477)
(16,683,242)  (2,149,803) (17,012,829)  (2,192,273)
1,916,127 246,912 2,201,146 283,640
(11,500) (1,482) 10,240 1,320
(11,500) (1,482) 10,240 1,320
1,904,627 245,430 2,211,386 284,959

(182,200) (23,478)
1,722,427 221,952 2,211,386 284,959
1,722,427 221,952 2,211,386 284,959

128.86
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2021 31
¢ >y >y ¢ > c >y > o C D
480,000 61,853 3,987,144 513,783 4,467,144 575,636
2,211,386 284,950 2,211,386 284,959
480,000 61,853 6,198,530 798,743 6,678,530 860,595
1,722,427 221,952 1,722,427 221,952
480,000 61,853 7,920,957 1,020,695 8,400,957 1,082,547
128.86
2021 31
2021 2020
1,722,427 221,952 2,201,146 283,640
11,500 1,482 10,240 1,320
182,200 23,478
1,916,127 246,912 2,211,386 284,959
909,296 117,172 339,626 43,764
(394,011) (50,772) (861,555) (111,020)
(101,297) (13,053)
2,330,115 300,259 1,689,457 217,703
2,330,115 300,259 1,689,457 217,703
5,628,385 725,274 3,938,928 507,570
(11,500) (1,482)
7,947,000 1,024,050 5,628,385 725,274

128.86
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2021 31 2020 31
100
190
2021 2020
18,599,369 19,213,975
2020 31
2020 10
2021 31
2021 2020
19 2019 19 (182, 200)
(182,200)
(182,200)
2021 31 2020 31
2021 2020
10 20 21 958,983
19 2019 19
(182,200)
(182,200)
19.0

2021 2023 25
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2020 31
46,800
2021 2020

JPY 110.65 108.69
GBP 0.7274 0.817
SGD 1.3459 1.4256
EUR 0.8531 0.9103
HKD 7.7758 7.7525
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2021 31 2021 31
2021 31 a
@ ®) ®
C C C C
1,422,718 120,838
8,299,627 720,942
3,786,710 210,652
1,556,076 120,670
164,656 10,393
106,470
15,336,257 1,183,495
2020 31 2020 31
2020 31 a
@ o) o)
C C C C
4,939,036 686,456
2,265,335 991,951
6,464,511 179,247
1,801,198 137,386
115,458 7,001
15,585,538 179,247 1,822,794
(a
(b

http://www._smth. jp/en/
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NIKEO AM GLOBAL CAYMAN LTD

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Curremt Assas

Cach nd cach squiralants

Accounis reodirable

Acrusd inoome nd prepaid epense
Total Curremt Asrts

Total Non-Curomt Assets
Total Assrs

Lish ilizies and Equity

Current Liahilities

Adrrued expenses el deferred imocene

AEIENS Pl

Amounts pryeble Lo group undatalangs

Total Current Lish lities

Equity

Capitaland Reerves Arributable in Equity

Holders of the Company

Ehare apalal (31 par valus, 480,000 share

pathonzed, 480,000 ghares isnoed and

outstandingal 31 Mandh 2020 a0d 20093

Retenal mmngs
Total Equity
Toeal L katilinkes and Equity

The enaal nobes bom 1 to? fom = mtegrnd pat afthese Aol satements

ASAT 31 MARCH 21
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Note e 2080
UsD UsD
7,547,000 628,305
1,541,104 3,051 407

71,250 70,125
0,550, 436 2,550,117
0,989, 436 2,550,117

218,179 148, 200

156,805 79,860
1,155,495 1,643,547
1,558,470 1,87 587

450,000 4800000
1520957 5,158,530
400,957 678, 550
0,950, 436 8,550,117

These finencsd statements ware gpproved by the Boand of Darectors on 3 Decamber 2021 snd sthorsed for izaue w0 signedon

hzbdhalfby

[W by
w:ﬁmm#r

D Criase
Diuratoor

Compery ragisered number 1293732
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NIEKEO AM GLOBAL CAYMAN LTD

COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 MARCH 2000

Awrts

Cummt Asses
ot and czh equivdients

Auounis meouv e

Accrued oo and prped sgense
Total Currmt Assets

Mom-Cument Asses
Erreasiment o fbaidhany

T otal Non-Curomt Assets
Total Assds

L ks ilizies and Equiry

Current Liabilities
Accrusd expenses and defemed inoome
Aceamis payible
Ao pagratle Lo group ursatalangt
Total Curret L s ilities

Equiity
Capital and Reserves Afrdbuiable o Equity
Holdes of the Company

Ehaee cpital (51 per value, 450,000 shares muthonzed,
A5, 000 shares ismeed and outstanding & 31 harch
00 and 20050

Fetamsd] ewmings
Total Equity

Total L inbilities amd Equity

Bate

The eeeed notes from 1 bo® fomn an inkagrad paet ofthese Bnancial stabemnents
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2 200
sD Lh ]
7,547,000 5,628,385
1,341,166 2,851,607
71,250 0128
9950436 8,550,117
1 1
1 ]
9,959,437 8,550,118
218,179 148,200
156,808 79,840
1,167,485 1,643,547
1,558,470 1,871, 887
460,000 460,000
7520958 6,158,531
2,400,958 66783
9,980,437 £550,118

Thee finanasl fatemnts wae spprovsd by the Boand of Daectors on 3 Dicambear 2027 s sathomsad B issue dnd signedon

itz hehalf by

Dhpazia g by
| Ay,
FERFMTIDELFF.

B Cruase
Dot

Compary repisered number 129532
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MIKEO AM GLOBAL CAYMAN LTD
STATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2001

Fnte a2l et bl
B L1 U0
Operating Revmines
Inveshiment mmag enat end advizory fees from third parbies i 18, 500 5 12213575
Tetal aperaling o 18,552,367 19,213,575
Operating Exprnses
Saib advasony fees wath therd pataes {1,225, 208 1,183,007y
Sub-advazory Tees with group wdatsangs (15,229, 76M) (15,585,530
Cther cperating snd sdmimsintive scpense QX155 (244 Ty
Tetsl eparatang ap e (16,683, 242) (17,012,829
O perating Prof it 1,906,127 2,200,146
Other Inoome / {Expenses)
Ha forapn eedange (ost¥gain (18,5000 10,240
Tictal ctha inoome’epase 01,3000 10,240
Frof it BEffore Inoome Tax 1,504, 6527 1,211,386
Triccnmee koot ewpenite 5 182 200y
Prof it metribwtab e to equity kobders of the parmit 1,7k 27 221188
Caher Comrpebiensive Encome for the year . -
Total Comp eebvmis bve Inonmne For the year 1,782 a7 2,211,586

All ke Group®s operstrons are clenbad & continung

The ardvzead notes from 1 0o 9 fomn o bl part ofthese Brancial saaments
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HIERO AM GLOBAL CAYMAN LTD
CONSOLIPATED STAT EMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 221

Share Fetained

ane Capleal Eamings Tl

5D S sn
Balance st 1 April 2009 <30, 000 358714 4,467,144
Cther comrprehersire mcoms 5 2,201,388 321158

Lor Uheyesr
Balance at 31 Mardh 2020 <0, 00 6,198,530 6,678,500
Cther camprehensive 1,722,427 1,722,427
moceree for theyoe

Balanceat 31 Mardh 2021 <80, 000 7,920,957 2400957

The srssced nobes o 1 to® G an anfagral port ofthese Grasecial statements.
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MIEKKO AM GLOBAL CAYMAN LTD
CONSOLIMATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

Cash Flows fron Operating Activities
Crperuting Frofic

Adfastments for

Bt forenpn mcchmge gam

Tax charge

Dp:';mm cagh flows before movemends in working
o

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Dreaexce in roonwables
(Cucrease) inpayible
Income fax pad

ek Cash CGememivd Fomm ﬂfpﬂ'ﬂhg.l..dhﬂn

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalmts
Cash and cash eqiivalents, baganrang of theyse
Elfect of sochongs re fetustaons on csh hed

Cash and Cash Equivalmis, End of the Year

The ardizead notes from 1 bo 9 fomn o mbgral part ofthese Brancial daements
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1,72 437 3,300, 146
11,500 10,240
152,200
1,916,127 2.211,386
$09, 295 339,626
(F58,011) (847,555}
Q101,267)
rimis 1,685 487
23ML115 1,689, 457
3,628,385 3,538,528
11,500)
7,547,000 5625385
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MIKKO AM GLOBAL CAYMAN LTD
HOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

Naie 1 - General Information

Mo Abd (ekal Caymm Lid ("the Company™ and 2 abadiny fogdher “the Crois™) i incorparbed w5 dormaled o the
Coymamn Islands The address of the ragiderad offtces 12 PO Box 30590T, Uglend Houze, South Chech Srest, Jrind Coypman,
Cuyrnan fxlanede. The prinapal sdavities of the Group aned Company daning the pear were the provenon of investmenl advaoe and
invedmmnl managanal paveces o thind paties and other group memksrs Thees non-stabdtery finanasl fabenets hive ben
prepared o aid the prepacaion of consolidited fnmaal Satersrnds for the intamneditie parenl cormpeeny

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Princdples
The prnczpal socoirring policess sdaptad e sat ot below

Bazis of preparation

Theee Group aned Coenpany’s fean aal fabarmis hav ebem prop ared in aocordan oe with nbarrabional Fanand ol Reporting Stndards
e adopted by the Eurep s Unaon (FRS: & by the EU and [FRIC mbaprdations apphicable bo campanies reporimg
urder IFEE. A d 31 March 2021, the Cofmpary adopbad all IFR3: snd intaprd alions bl Fod b e ssouad by the Interrotionl
Aooinbing Stasdirds Roard CLASE™) and Ietamahcdnd Fraedal Réapadog Inbapretadions Cammmitles (CIFRICT), and awdorssd
by the BT The sccounting policies sa ot below have boen spplind consistmtly to all paveds prepenied in these BEnancal
Astanmiz FREr comprese scounting fandards izneed by the [ASE md &1 predecesror body i wdl a3 sterpediahions izmued by
the TFREC and dl3 predecesor bondy,

In preparng thas 2o of Enancial Aatenenls, the Canpany preparsd placsble dowrside somanos sudh o reduction in ree e
doe o plebal macke dedine reculting from the pandsmoe. The diredors hor & adopted the poing comoem basis of pesparatson in
prepaning thess fnancial statements for the Bllowing ressons: 1) the Company hes mafficet cgital reav & Lo withetand severd
yoars of losses; i9) the Cangany has 3 Hﬁlﬂtﬂwm badanoe shed with cash reserves al the year and, and 510) the Company”s foved
erpees base o5 selativaly low. As e result, the dusectors hawe » Pscrable expectatson that the Compary has PeokECEs 10
coxikiraee s operaions for & lesst | 2months from the dabe ofth ee finanaal datemenks. Thre foee they conlamua to adopt the going
corioam badis in peeparing tene aocounts

Basis of consalbdation

Subsrdisnes are mbities controlledby the Group. Control exists when the Group hes mﬁw to gomem the firanaal end op enting
polscies of an mbity 3035 bo chlbem banefits Fom s sctivibés In spemmg oonbod, the Group talus ento considaation potential
vatmng nghts that are curnmtly snercazmble The scquesstson date a5 the dabe on which control is transfered to the soquiser The
finmnaad statemerks of subsidianes ane indudad i the consolidated finencal stberments from the datethat corkrol commences
ugksl the dabe that conircd cesses. Loznes spplicable bo the non-controdleng mbarests in & subadaey are allocsbed bo the pon-
conirodlmyg inbensts anen 1 doing 2o amires the non-ombrodlimg. inbaredts tohare s defiat balanoe

Hew noommting standards
The directors do ot consider thet any pew acooumhing stndands bad & matenal impact on the Coampany i the ozt yer

Mrsuranmi conventim
The finnasl dabernarichace bea propaned under thehistoneal o conventson

Estimates and nsumptions

The preparutyon of finenaal stbements requires the directors bo mace etimates mnd sesampdions thet sffect the amounis reported
bor azsetsand lishilitves u o thebalmce shest dal eand th e emounts reported for ermue and epenses duning the yer Thembere
ofestimation memns that pobuad cutoomes could differ from those estimates. The mnamptions and etemates, which are conteoously
revpewed, are basad o pet epen @i nd other factors, meluding epectabions cagarding liedy dev dopments 1o the fitize a1
31 Mandh 2021 and 2020 there were fie matenal et o gnEmplions

Accounis receivable

Acoounts recervab] & indude amounts due for managament, ﬂvlsu}-mdpu'ﬁnme fees and pmeoumts dige from oyt oemeers and
okhers Mlimﬂ:mvtlenrqr;ﬁlem danmnd arwithm oneyear They ae recorded in thebalmce sheet of cosf, redupsd
by sppeogeate allowmoes for estimated imecoreable amounds, ;d they oe inkerest banng

Accounts payahle

Acunts payable indude amounts due for wlm services and parformnanoe bes and amounts due to vadors and othees
All sccounts payable are dasaBed scording to the of the contractual arrangamert anbered sndo They are payable on
dernanid o within one year and a0e recorded on the balmos sheet o ooel Amounts owad bo prop undetalangs e ungeaused,
ntarest e and bove no foced temms of repayment

Cash and cash equivalents

Cushy mnd cach equivalents comprise cath anbanics and inhand and shor-term deposits withan ongenal matunty of three months
or lessand formgn aummaes had by the Group and Company, Forthe purposes of the cah flow stabement, cash ;nd cash
sqarmalants conmrt of cuh and cash equivalmts oz defined above, net of cutstanding bank ov edrafts

Orperating nevenses
Openitmyg revern e mclude myestment won sgement, invetmmt advisory md performomee fess Operating reveruss are mepmred

of the fier watue of the corrd entson receaved or pecavahle fir ernces prwdad m the o] cours e of buaness, net of dyscournds,
trmil B, VAT and cther sabes related taces
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MIKKO AM GLOBAL CAYMAN LTD
HOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

Operating revenues (continaed)

[FES 15, Reveue from Coetrads with Customnars replaced. TAS 123 Revenwe mnd inbroduced a five step sppeoach 1o reverue
recogrutaon’ () identi Bring the contrct with the customen, 1) identabying the paformancs ob hgateons, un idatify the conlrad. prce
fmtoculled revernis, 1wialbocate the omsiderstion tothe rdermt paformnos cbligahons, ind ) nemgrasng the revamue 2= the
pafommance chligdions me satished

[vedtment meragenert nd ld":uj{!:ﬂ md emcoisted durges s recogased when the sevices concamed e rndeed
Envestment mansg ement and advisory fees arecaladabed sap eromtag o of mrdsundermanagemmt Coammasacrs e recegised
e i brade dibe bans, caloulated on a peromilage of the sale Performance fes o peoogrnsad n the perod 16 whidh they basome
dus and colletable

Operating expmses
Crpeniting epmss wre acoounted for when they become poyable

Forsim airricis
The Binctacnal and presartational asrency of the Group and Company =178 dallas (8

Transactions i auerena s other than U5 dollers we reconded o the rates of ecchange prevailing on the dates of the transctions
it each balance cheet dabe, ety azoats avd Trahal that e dencminated in foragn currmaes are rebnmslded of the rabes
prevmlfing on lbe balace sheet date Honamonetary assels and hstalibes camoed o faor value that se deormonat ed m Sormgn
arrencies mre tricglabed of the mbes prevmling ot the datewhen faor vahue was delemmined. Gmns and loses msing on rdmnslstion
e mciuded mnd proft orloss for the penod, evcept for ecdhang ¢ differen ces anzmg on nonamond ary =3 o5 mmd Lishilities where
the cheeges m fir value mre recogridsed diredly in equidy

Finandal instnimemnts
The vast magoniy of the Company’s finmaal netnemes e ash md recvables whodh are measrsd d snotisad ot

The Comparmy has arabosted poterdsal credit [9se on all Eronasl scsete thel ore messursd ot amontecad o Fadors onsidarsd
i detemmining whether a default 15 kely or posnible inchsde whether o payment 1 ovendue (and thee Bength of that panod), my
knin detaroruaon in the credit qalaty of a dinbfcounberparty or cther izauee that couldade wredy affed & client’o/ount sparty's
coadit qualaty

For firancal seds whersthers 12 nolausn resuss affeding credit quality, atpeded aredil lostes ara al ailded based on the losse
that are epeded Lo beinaimed sver a rolling terelvemonth penicd. Given the nabure of the Company’s Enancial mcde () o modly
cazh ot bank), thee 15 & very low oedit nsie The Compamy 15 also considenng the use of money morket funds o inorase
diverseation and faether reduce credit nsk

Fee my finarvcial dgsats where the contrectual paymand i mote than 30 days pact due, the daliall podslaon 12 boasaime a inasds
in aredit sk Howeser, defiult lavds m the past have bomn mmenaberal ad theed weneno D reoar sbies past dus ae o 31 Mach
2021

Investemts in aebsidiaries
Invedmmis in rubsidiaries we stabed in thepaend company’s balencr shed ok cost less any prowizions for smpaimmmnt.

Ab exch stabamant of firancial posstaon dats, the Company revvews b camying ameucks of 2 myeamans 19 dabemmune whthe

thar {2 sy mndaction that those azsets have suffred inrpaareners. 17 any such indicalaon seists, the racovaable arnound of the
et it etinabed in onder o dderrnine the edend of sy arpairmend

Naote 3 — Investment n Subsidiary

Al 31 March 2021 and 31 Mandh 3020 the Compery had an mvestment of 31, In the opinion of the diredors, the Company's
wvetment iz oot umpaired Dietmls of the inwetment are as follows

Number, classand

al FrCE of shares

Investee hmmmm FPrincipal activicy IT‘H h;:: EE!I']
Mo Al (Cayrean) Lid %?::' General partnar . Eﬁ'ﬁ,&"

The submdiry's registerad address 15 190 Elgin Az evue, George Town, Grand Cayman, Coymmm Islands,
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MIKKO AM GLOBAL CAYMAN LTD
HOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARE ENDED 31 MARCH 221

Noted - Revenue from Contractswith Contemers

All pevenze pelites Lo the provision of e estenere adv ioe end vedmamnt managemenk savioes. Inthe following bable, revomes o
dizapgrogaled by primany gegraphacal marke

Countey 2021 2020

Carriraen Ielmeds 18308380 12213975

Note 5§ - Taxation

At 31 Mardh 2020 the tax rate spplicsble tothe Group and the Company’s profits was (e becmize there 1500 (ax lerred
l’.‘ljm Islands companies Thrfun]:myng.mﬂd for UK tax witheffet rom 1 Odober 3020

Taxes o inoome for the year mded 31 March 2021 ware & follows

021 2020
Curmemt T
LR corporation b o 19546 (2015 1940 based on net pevenue ] {182 200) § -
Tomal Cument Incomve Tax Expmse Tz, 200) -
Total Income Tax Expmse 5 (83 300y % -

A recnianlaabron Balweeen the amont Hlﬂw&ﬂ!ﬂ!ﬂlﬂ mmtﬂmmummeu refled od i onkimang
eperizon Sir the yeire endad 31 Mard 2021 i 2020 i presanted beow

a2 2000
Tax Reconciliston
Frofs before Lo (Od 20 - M 21 1 ok i -
Mt prolit multiplied by the standurd rabe of corporation tax in the TR0 1984
S 1584 (1E2 300} -
Tital Income Tax Expense! rom mntinuing operations 1 e 20y ¢ -
Effective tas mte for the year ~10.1P -

In the 2321 Eprng Budgd, the Sovemmimt armounesd thel from 1 Agnl 2023, the mon mte of T oapomntron tet mie will
inmease 1o 25% Thiswill hare o consequential effact. on the Companyr’s Bdure fioe charge

Note 6 - Financlal Risk Factors

The Grogp el Company’s financial matnaments compnes ach md cagh equvalents and recvable snd payable balances that
mree from st duly operabions. Al aeth e cashi equival ents ere cameed ot oot whedh 15 consedenad 80 spprosimste to for v due
dre b the shert ber maturity of thess fnanoal metraments The menn ek Esocisted with the Group and Campany’s finan ol
pzets ed Dinbidibres me et catbelow

Credit risk

Credt nek it defined a2 the nek of financaal loss due bo a courderpaty s Gubure bo Boncour 112 cbligation prinapally in rdatson 1o
Irieadzons whars the Grodp ar Campacy provwdes poods o savices on delarad berre od whar s o inrests or deposits fuplus
aach The Groip or Comparny do nol believe that ther are matenally exposed 1o dredil nske &t 1k sales debbors are marngsd group
funds md therefore ronagement and perfomance et recervable ane govemned by i agreements wnth these finds To miigabe
ey residml ndk of these aseets falmg to be delivered, the Group md Company mazre that the temms of these sgrefments in
relation to paymmts of menagement and performoce fem mre adh aed B by monibonng its aged dettor smalysis agains the sgreed
serrice lona] agrearmenls

The Group and Comipary adopte the policy of dealing with custamers of sppropnate radit Tusbory, For other francial ateds, the
Croup and Campany adepls thepolicy of dealing wth fireme o metibulions o d other cunterpartees with high oradit rbmgs Them
e o fnanaal asds past due snd [ or impared as ot 31 March 2021 and 2000 Traderecavables ane due o laad quartady, md ane
ntermmlliy zeitlad witkan 30 dinge of therr dus dafe There sre fio overdie irade recevables st the balance shet dabe

Fusther, with regand tobank deponts, the Group and Commpany only deposts monsy wilh spprovsd cosnbapartios on agresd Lame

Market risk

Mlarieet rzke Gor systerrnc ke is defined s tha rsiewhach 2 commen toan entire dees of assels o [l R whensty thas valis
an fldude arply beomize of smeornie dunge or dthe everts that wrped large portions of the macket The Group and
Comy donot belpare that they are epod ol to maeml modked nék as the s the Jroup md Company manag e areledd by
s fior the benefit of fand holders through sepseate ezl entatyes
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HOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARE ENDED 31 MARCH 221

Naode 6 - Finandal Risk Factors (continned)

Currency sk
Currancy saok 15 defined as the rigo that the valus of Groap of Company aeds end hlbalitie danomuntad i aurrences other than
thve Asvatdonal curency of the Group. or © will change tn vahee due tomeovenanks in forsign sedhange rbe The Group

and Company have etponure to aemency nle, ansing paminly fom ash nd recevablen rdlding o Tee wnoome i dafferent
axrecie The FXrabe used o trnslabe the smounts & yeur od e dizdosed bdow. AL 31 March 2021 and 2020, had thess
arramcies srengthealiwedomed by 100 agrinst the TED with all other wansbles icluding tax rte being held constant, the
Group and Company's totel eposare Lo aaregy nsk would have ben highanlower by sppromemataly $46,.600

Cuprem ey 2021 2020
(e ve USDY)

Py 11065 1082

GEF 724 1)

50D 1. 3459 1. 4254

EUR 08531 09103

HED 17754 77525

Liquidity risk and Financial sobvmey sk
Lequadity e 12 defined as the sk that the Group or Company wall eeot be dbleto me ais firanaal chlighions & they ] dee
The Greup md Corpany’s mpeeosd b0 reanaging this rd ae be eeeare bl @ e suffieimt Hguedity to st it b ilises when
due, both under nommal and sressed condibions:

CapialranagEment

The Group sl Compaey cpital posslacn 12 monitorsd on & cngoing basas to aaue that ik 13 sdeqate There are no eftamally
irngosed capalal Fagairam ais

Note 7 - Related Party Transactlons

Tranzadion: bawem the Group and Company mdrelated parties ore discfosed baow

Debior as Creditor asat
Opemting Orpernting at 31 March 21 March
Year ended 31 March 2021 Rrvmues Expemses (1) 220 (b 02k
Hikko Azzet Maragermen. Americas, Ine i - 5 1422718 : - 1 120,838
Hikkeo dosset Maragenend Euops Lid . 8,290,427 - T, M2
Hildoo Assat Maragpemeg Co Lid - 3 TI0 - 10,652
Hikdoo Azzet Macagemest Asla Lid - 1,556,076 - 120,670
Hildetr Auszet Maragernend. Hong Kong - 164 56 - 10,393
Highwater Lamited - 106,470 -
Tal 5 - 8 15234257 3 . g L1E4es
Debior as Creditor asat
Operating Orpernting at 31 March 31 March 200
Year ended 31 March 2030 Fvmues Expmses () 2020 (b by
Hikkeo Azzet Maragemen. Amenica, Ine i - 5 4,700,036 5 - 1 E5 456
Hikko dosset Marapenend Euops Lid . 2,265,335 - oo, 051
Fikdoo Asset Maragenent Co , Lid . G 511 179,247 '
Hikke Azset Macapemest Asia Lid * 1,801,198 + 13738
Hikko Azest Muagernert Hong Kong - 115458 - 7,000
Tl 5 - 3 15Sesms 5 179,247 5 LERTM
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FOR THE YEARE ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
Naode T - Helated Party Transaciions (contimaed)

(@) Cpersting mpanses pad torelated parties o payshle wnder inwastmend manapenaet gemnats ndaes for fund
MG ATIANG Sarice

() The amounks cubstanding e unzeased md will bezettlad incash Mo pematest havs bein prm or pecewad. Mo proeizione
hawe beovn rraads Bor doubtiis] debts inoerpet of the amounits owed By relabad partaes

Hikieo Assel Mmnaganmnt Amences, Ine, Hikko Asse Mmagenat Eurcpe Lid | Hikko Asrd Manspament Asta Lid and Hikko

Assd. Mmnagemat Hong Bong are fdlow mubsidianies o Asset Bisnagement Co, Ld iz anoindiredt shassholde of the
sorarenbionsd subgidianes

Naobe® - Ultimaie Halding Company

The Comgany's rmedise paoed 12 Nikloo AM Global Holdings Lavubed, a oompaey loaged 1n the Thated EKingdom The
Compaery is s ndbaduey undetdeng of Sumitoro Meau Trust Holdings, Inc whach is theultimate parent comparny in Jagan

Thee bargent. grop an which thesensts of the Comgany mre consolidated 15 that headed by Sumitomne Matsui Trost Heldings, Ene,
1-1-2 Manuncuch, Chiyodeku, Tdoyo, Japan The conselidated Gnancaal steaments of this growp are avilable to the public
histp fhwers Soihpfen

Naode® — Subseguent Evenis

Subpequent bo the statanant of Brancial position date; there were no svants whach had an impad on the consolidabed nd indivedual
Einanaad stabements of the Comgpany,
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@
FirstCaribbean International Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
2022 37,758,468.26 48 6,556
1965
@
Brown Brothers Harriman & Co.
2021 12 1,040,000,000 1,340 1,440
(©))
UFJ
2022 405
-2
2022 122
*
2022 173 63
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1.1 1993

1.2
1960

1.3
(a
1993
2020

(b
2020

1.4

1.5 2021 12 12,451
3,145
2020
2020
1.6
2.1

CIMA

CIMA
2.2

2.3

O

(a
(b
(c
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2.4 CIMA CIMA

CIMA
2.5 2020
15

CIMA
2.6

3.1

CIMA CIMA CIMA

CIMA

CIMA

3.2

CIMA

CIMA

3.3

(a 80,000 CIMA 100,000

(b

CIMA
3.4

2020 CIMA
CIMA

15

80,000 100,000
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4.1
CIMA
CIMA
4.2 CIMA
(a
(b
(c
«
(e
4.3
21
4.4 2006 12 27
CIMA
5.1
5.2
5.3
CIMA
5.4 CIMA
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CIMA
21
CIMA
CIMA
CIMA
CIMA CIMA
CIMA
CIMA
48
3.2
10



5.5

5.6

5.7

5.8

CIMA

(a
(b

(c
(d
(e

@i

(A
B 12

(c
CIMA

CIMA

6.1

(a

O

(c

«

CIMA

(A

17

36,585
8,536
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CIMA

CIMA

c

CIMA

24,390 30,488
8,536
42,682



6.2

6.3

(f
@

(h
@

(k

(m

(n

(vii

30

(a

®

(c

«

(f

(9

(h
@i

1925

150

20

(a

O

CIMA
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6.4

(c

(

(e

(f

(9

(h

@i

(k

(a

O

(c

@i

(vi

2016

50
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«

(e 50

CIMA
7.1 CIMA CIMA CIMA

7.2
7.1

500
7.3
CIMA CIMA CIMA
CIMA

7.4 7.3 10

7.5 7.3
CIMA
10
7.6
CIMA CIMA

7.7 CIMA 7.9

(a
(b

(c
«

(e
(f

7.8 7.7 CIMA CIMA

(a CIVA
® CIMA
(c
(d CIVA CIMA
7.9 7.7 CIMA
@a b)
a)

(b

(c
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@
(e
.10 CIMA 7.9 CIMA

.11 CIMA CIMA

A2 7.9(d) 7.9(e)

CIMA CIMA
.13 7.9(e)

7.14  7.13
7.15  7.9(d) 7.9(e)

(a CINA CINA CINA
(b CINMA
CINA
c () CINMA CINA

16 7.9(d) 7.9(e) 7.15 CINA
CIMA

17 7.15 CIMA
(a CIVA
(b 94(4)
(c
«
(e 7.9(d) 7.9(e)
.18 CIMA 7.17
7.9
.19 CIMA  7.9(a)

.20 7.17(c)

.21 CIMA CIMA

b)
a)

CIMA
.1 CIMA CIMA CIMA

500

CIMA CIMA CIMA
CIMA
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8.5 8.3

CIMA
10
8.6 CIMA CIMA

(a
(b
8.7 CIMA

8.8 CIMA 8.10
(a
(b

(c

(

(e

(f
@

(h

8.9 8.8 CIMA CIMA

(a
€ CIMA

(i CIMA
(iii
(iv CIMA
(Y CIMA
(vi CIMA
(vii
(viii  CIMA CIMA
(b CIMA
(c CIMA
(d CINA
8.10 8.8 CIMA
(a
(b
(c
(¢
(e
8.11 CIMA 8.10 CIMA CIMA

8.12  8.10(d) 8.10(e)
CINA CINA
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8.13  8.10(e)

8.14 8.13

8.15  8.10(d) 8.10(e)

(a CINA CINA CINA
(b CIMA CINA

c O CIMA CIMA
8.16  8.10(d) 8.10(e)

(a 8.15
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Independent auditor®s report

To FirstCaribbean International Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as the
Trustee of TRP US Core Growth Equity Fund

Our opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of TRP US Core Growth Equity Fund (the Fund) as at December 31, 2021, and results of its
operations, changes in its net assets, its cash flows and the financial highlights for the year then
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
What we have audited
The Fund’ s financial statements comprise:

the statement of assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2021;

the portfolio of investments as at December 31, 2021;

the statement of operations for the year then ended;

the statement of changes in net assets for the year then ended;

the statement of cash flows for the year then ended;

the financial highlights for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’ s responsibilities for

the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
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Independence

We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management 1is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for evaluating whether there are
conditions and events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Fund’ s
ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements
are issued, or available to be issued, and disclosing, as applicable, matters related to this
evaluation unless the liquidation basis of accounting is being used by the Fund.

Auditor’ s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’ s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’ s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting

estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of management’ s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund’ s ability to continue as a going concern.
IT we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’ s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’ s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Other matter

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the FirstCaribbean
International Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as Trustee of the Fund in
accordance with the terms of our engagement letter and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this
opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this
report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in
writing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
June 8, 2022

166/182



2021

2021 31
31
2021 31
1SA (UK) 2020

FRC

167/182

EDINETOOOO
OO000DO00oDOo00DOo0OooOodnE27078)
Ooooooooooooooooooad



EDINETOOOO
OO000DO00oDOo00DOo0OooOodnE27078)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

ISA
(CLY)

FRC www._frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities

168/182



EDINETOOOO
OO000DO00oDOo00DOo0OooOodnE27078)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

E14 5GL
15
2021 12

169/182



EDINETOOOO
OO000DO00oDOo00DOo0OooOodnE27078)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR*S REPORT TO THE DIRECTORS OF NIKKO AM GLOBAL CAYMAN LTD
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

Opinion

We have audited the non-statutory financial statements of Nikko AM Global Cayman Ltd (* the company” ) for the
year ended 31 March 2021 which comprise the Statement of Consolidated Comprehensive Income, Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position, Company Statement of Financial Position, Consolidated Statement of Changes in
Equity, Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and related notes, including the accounting policies in note 2. The non-
statutory financial statements have been prepared for the reasons set out in note 1.

In our opinion the non-statutory financial statements:

give a true and fair view of the state of the Group®s and of the Parent Company’ s affairs as at 31 March
2021 and of the Group®s profit for the year then ended; and

have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ ISAs (UK)” ) and the terms
of our engagement letter dated 02 April 2020.  Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our
ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the Company in accordance with, UK ethical requirements
including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and
appropriate basis for our opinion.

Going concern

The directors have prepared the non-statutory financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not
intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded that the
Group and the Company®s financial position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are
no material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over their ability to continue as a going
concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the non-statutory financial statements (“ the going
concern period’ ).

In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the Group and Company’ s
business model and analysed how those risks might affect the Group and Company’ s financial resources or ability
to continue operations over the going concern period.

Our conclusions based on this work:

we consider that the directors® use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the non-
statutory financial statements is appropriate;

we have not identified, and concur with the directors” assessment that there is not, a material uncertainty
related to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group®s
or the Company"s ability to continue as a going concern for the going concern period.
However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes
that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the above conclusions are

not a guarantee that the Group or the Company will continue in operation.

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect
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Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (* fraud risks” ) we assessed events or conditions that
could indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk
assessment procedures included:

Enquiring of directors and inspection of policy documentation as to the Company’ s high-level policies and
procedures to prevent and detect fraud, as well as whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or
alleged fraud.

Reading Board meeting minutes.

Considering remuneration incentive schemes and performance targets for management.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any indications of
fraud throughout the audit.

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account our overall knowledge of the control environment, we
perform procedures to address the risk of management override of controls, in particular the risk that management
may be in a position to make inappropriate accounting entries. On this audit we do not believe there is a fraud
risk related to revenue recognition because the calculation of the revenue is non-judgmental and straightforward,
with limited opportunity for manipulation.

We did not identify any additional fraud risks.

We also performed procedures including identifying journal entries to test based on risk criteria and comparing
the identified entries to supporting documentation. These included all post-closing journals.

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to non-compliance with laws and Regulations

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the
financial statements from our general commercial and sector experience, and through discussion with the directors
and other management (as required by auditing standards), and from inspection of the Company"s regulatory and
legal correspondence and discussed with the directors and other management the policies and procedures regarding
compliance with laws and regulations.

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications of non-
compliance throughout the audit.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the Company is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including
financial reporting legislation (including related companies legislation), and we assessed the extent of
compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial statement items.

Secondly, the Company is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance
could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance through the
imposition of fines or litigation or the loss of the Company®s authority to operate. We identified the following
areas as those most likely to have such an effect: certain aspects of company legislation recognising the
financial nature of the Company"s activities and its legal form.

Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to identify non-compliance with these laws and regulations
to enquiry of the directors and other management and inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any.
Therefore, if a breach of operational regulations is not disclosed to us or evident from relevant correspondence,
an audit will not detect that breach.
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Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some
material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our audit
in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further removed noncompliance with laws and regulations
is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited
procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Our audit
procedures are designed to detect material misstatement. We are not responsible for preventing noncompliance or
fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information, which comprises the Directors” Report. Our opinion on
the non-statutory accounts does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our non-
statutory accounts audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the non-
statutory accounts or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work, we have not identified material
misstatements in the other information.

Directors” responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 5, the directors are responsible for: the preparation
of the non-statutory accounts, which are intended by them to give a true and fair view; such internal control as
they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of non-statutory financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Group®s and the Company’ s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor®s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the non-statutory accounts as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’ s report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with 1SAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the non-statutory accounts.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC' s website at
www._frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

Our report has been prepared for the Company solely in accordance with the terms of our engagement. It has been
released to the Company on the basis that our report shall not be copied, referred to or disclosed, in whole
(save for the Company’ s own internal purposes) or in part, without our prior written consent.

Our report was designed to meet the agreed requirements of the Company determined by the Company’ s needs at the
time. Our report should not therefore be regarded as suitable to be used or relied on by any party wishing to
acquire rights against us other than the Company for any purpose or in any context. Any party other than the
Company who obtains access to our report or a copy and chooses to rely on our report (or any part of it) will do
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so at its own risk. To the fullest extent permitted by law, KPMG LLP will accept no responsibility or liability

in respect of our report to any other party.

Carla Cassidy (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP

Chartered Accountants

15 Canada Square

London E14 5GL

bate: 3 December 2021
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Independent auditor®s report

To FirstCaribbean International Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as the
Trustee of TRP US Core Growth Equity Fund

Our opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of TRP US Core Growth Equity Fund (the Fund) as at December 31, 2020, and results of its
operations, changes in its net assets, its cash flows and the financial highlights for the year then
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
What we have audited
The Fund’ s financial statements comprise:

the statement of assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2020;

the portfolio of investments as at December 31, 2020;

the statement of operations for the year then ended;

the statement of changes in net assets for the year then ended;

the statement of cash flows for the year then ended;

the financial highlights for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (I1SAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’ s responsibilities for

the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
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Independence

We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management 1is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for evaluating whether there are
conditions and events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Fund’ s
ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements
are issued, or available to be issued, and disclosing, as applicable, matters related to this
evaluation unless the liquidation basis of accounting is being used by the Fund.

Auditor’ s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’ s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’ s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting

estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of management’ s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund’ s ability to continue as a going concern.
IT we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’ s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’ s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Other matter

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the FirstCaribbean
International Bank and Trust Company (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as Trustee of the Fund in
accordance with the terms of our engagement letter and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this
opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this
report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in
writing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
June 18, 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR*S REPORT TO THE DIRECTORS OF NIKKO AM GLOBAL CAYMAN LTD
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

Opinion

We have audited the non-statutory accounts of Nikko AM Global Cayman Ltd (* the company” ) for the year ended 31
March 2020 which comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2020, the Statement of Comprehensive
Income, the Statement of Changes in Equity, and the Cash Flow Statement for the year then ended, and related
notes including the accounting policies in note 2. The non-statutory accounts have been prepared for the reasons
set out in note 1.

In our opinion the non-statutory accounts:

give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’ s affairs as at 31 March 2020 and of its profit for
the year then ended; and

have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ ISAs (UK)” ) and the terms
of our engagement letter dated 02 April 2020.  Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our
ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the company in accordance with, UK ethical requirements
including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and
appropriate basis for our opinion.

Going concern

The directors have prepared the non-statutory accounts on the going concern basis as they do not intend to
liquidate the company or to cease its operations, and as they have concluded that the company’ s financial
position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no material uncertainties that
could have cast significant doubt over its ability to continue as a going concern for at least a year from the
date of approval of the non-statutory accounts (“ the going concern period” ).

We are required to report to you if we have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of accounting is
inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over the use of
that basis for a period of at least a year from the date of approval of the non-statutory accounts. In our
evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the company’ s business model,
including the impact of Brexit, and analysed how those risks might affect the company’ s financial resources or
ability to continue operations over the going concern period. We have nothing to report in these respects.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes
that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the absence of reference
to a material uncertainty in this auditor®s report is not a guarantee that the company will continue in
operation.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information, which comprises the director’ s report. Our opinion on
the non-statutory accounts does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our non-
statutory accounts or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work, we have not identified material

misstatements in the other information.
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Directors”™ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 5, the directors are responsible for: the preparation
of the non-statutory accounts, which are intended by them to give a true and fair view; such internal control as
they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of non-statutory accounts that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the company’ s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless they either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Auditor®s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the non-statutory accounts as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’ s report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the non-statutory accounts.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC' s website at
ww . Frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

Our report has been prepared for the Company solely in accordance with the terms of our engagement. It has been
released to the Company on the basis that our report shall not be copied, referred to or disclosed, in whole
(save for the Company’ s own internal purposes) or in part, without our prior written consent.

Our report was designed to meet the agreed requirements of the Company determined by the Company’ s needs at the
time. Our report should not therefore be regarded as suitable to be used or relied on by any party wishing to
acquire rights against us other than the Company for any purpose or in any context. Any party other than the
Company who obtains access to our report or a copy and chooses to rely on our report (or any part of it) will do
so at its own risk. To the fullest extent permitted by law, KPMG LLP will accept no responsibility or liability
in respect of our report to any other party.

Michael McGarry (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP

Chartered Accountants

15 Canada Square

London E14 5GL

06 August 2020
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